EFFECTS OF MICRO SITES AND AMENDMENTS ON NEAR SURFACE SOIL TEMPERATURE AND VOLUMETRIC WATER CONTENT TO ENHANCE REVEGETATION

by

Zhichao Jiao

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Land Reclamation and Remediation

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Zhichao Jiao, 2015

ABSTRACT

Land reclamation requires successful germination, emergence and establishment of desired plant species. Seed and micro sites, often lacking in disturbed ecosystems, can be limiting factors for germination and plant establishment. Micro sites, or safe sites, are required to reduce or prevent soil and seed desiccation, especially in exposed soils common on early reclamation sites. Micro sites can provide heterogeneous conditions to favour germination and survival for a variety of native plant species. Even small changes in near surface soil temperature and water content can influence seed germination and plant establishment.

Micro sites (mounds, pits, flat areas) were evaluated with addition of amendments (hydrogel, manure, blanket, straw, grass, control) to determine their effects on near surface soil temperature and volumetric water content. Near surface soil temperature and near surface soil water content were recorded with half an hour frequency to quantify the modification from micro sites and amendments. Research sites were established in Alberta, Canada, two in parkland and one in grassland.

Near surface soil temperature and volumetric water content were modified with greater heterogeneity provided by micro sites and amendments relative to flat areas. Mounds consistently lowered near surface soil temperature in winter while raising near surface soil temperature in other seasons. The opposite occurred in pits. The amendments provided greater heterogeneity and thus higher variability in near surface soil temperature. Mulch treatments lowered near surface soil temperature. Both micro sites and amendments were associated with higher heterogeneity and variability in soil volumetric water content. Pits had higher near surface soil water contents than mounds. Micro sites and amendments modified soil conditions with more availability of favourable sites for native plant species in land reclamation.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to the Helmholtz-Alberta Initiative (HAI) for the main funding for my MSc program. Special thanks to the Land Reclamation International Graduate School (LRIGS). I was honoured to be a student of LRIGS. Besides providing valuable funding for my graduate program, LRIGS expanded my views on policy and social influences of land reclamation beyond the scientific research I did. LRIGS provided me with well designed and implemented professional training in various fields related to land reclamation and field trips to land reclamation sites in Germany and Canada. LRIGS gave me the opportunity to hear many professional speakers in its lecture series and to interact with the speakers to learn more about their work. I was able to learn about the current research frontiers in land reclamation and related fields through all academic meetings funded by HAI and LRIGS.

Thank you to the Rangelands Research Institute, the Devonian Botanic Garden and Elk Island National Park for use of the land for our research sites and for assistance with logistics while conducting the research. I thank the Rangelands Research Institute for accommodations during my field work and for funding that supported some of the summer research assistants working at the Mattheis Ranch.

Thank you to all the people who helped me in the field with my data collection, especially Dr. Anayansi Cohen-Fernández, Dr. Federico Mollard, Gabriela Luna-Wolter, Jasmine Lamarre, Jenna Abou Rizk, Valerie Miller. I thank the summer research assistants, Terrance Blaskovits, Mireille Boivin, Sarah Davis, Laurie Frerichs, Kassia James, and Jasmine Lamarre Edith Li, Valerie Miller, Robert Neys and Venesa Whyte, for their assistance with plot set up and with data collection. Special thanks to Dr. Anayansi Cohen-Fernández and Dr. Federico Mollard for helping me design my research project and set up instruments and treatments at all of the field research sites.

Thank you to Dr. Linjun Yao for her invaluable help with statistical analyses. Her advice, suggestions and demonstrations made it possible for me to correctly use ANOVA and interpret my research results. I am grateful for her patience and knowledge.

Thank you to all of the people who helped with organization throughout my masters program. Thank you to Leanne McKinnon and Sarah Wilkinson for registration and documentation of my program and organizing field research. Thank you to Stacy Campbell Court for organizing HAI meetings and activities. Thank you to Michal Guzowski for organizing LRIGS activities and providing help through my LRIGS program.

iii

Thank you to my fellow graduate students. Alison Murata, Anayansi Cohen-Fernández, Caitlin Low, Darin Sherritt, Federico Mollard, Gabriela Luna-Wolter, Heather Archibald, Holly Stover, Jaime Aguilar Rojas, Jasmine Lamarre, Jenna Abou Rizk, Katryna Forsch, Lenore Turner, Linjun Yao, Meghan Nannt, Sarah Ficko and Valerie Miller. Thank you for creating a lively and cheerful environment in which I not only increased my knowledge but also gained happiness and friendship.

Thank you to the Department of Renewable Resources and the Faculty fo Agricultural, Life and Environmental Sciences for providing me with office space and computer laboratories.

Thank you to my supervisory committee members, Dr. M. Anne Naeth, Dr. David S. Chanasyk and Dr. Guillermo Hernandez Ramirez for suggestions and support of my project.

Thank you to Dr. M. Anne Naeth. I have always been grateful for all she has done for me, which had given me the power to explore through the difficulties in this research to repay a debt of gratitude. I always compare where my ability is now to that of when I just arrived in Canada. So many of my dreamed goals have been achieved into reality, which are owed to careful and generous teaching and guidance from Dr. Naeth. I am honoured to learn from Dr. Naeth and be a so called "Naethian". If I can discover something, it is because knowledge of Dr. Naeth is inside me. If I can write something, it is because knowledge of Dr. Naeth is the internal first author. I am always grateful to Dr. Naeth for being the power source of me.

Thank you to my father Libo Jiao and mother Furong Cao. The brightness of my childhood became the lights in my eyes, shining the road through obstacles I encountered. Thank you very much for teaching me braveness and kindness, for both of which you are the role models for me. I know, whenever I smile, you are smiling too because I am the exact portrait of you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1 1 1 4
II.	4. General Research Objectives Micro Site And Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature	7
	1. Introduction	/
	2. Research Objectives And Hypotheses	ð 8
	2.1. Objectives	0 8
	3. Materials And Methods	9
	3.1. Research Sites	9
	3.1.1. Mattheis Ranch	. 9
	3.1.2. Elk Island National Park	10
	3.1.3. Devonian Botanic Garden	11
	3.2. Experimental Design And Site Establishment	11
	3.3. Soil Micro Topography And Amendment Treatments	12
	3.4. Research Site Instrumentation	13
	3.5. Soil Sampling And Analysis	14
	3.6. Statistical Analyses	14
	4. Results Allo Discussion	14
	4.1. Soli Flopenies	14
	4.3. General Treatment Trends For Near Surface Soil Temperature	15
	4.4. Micro Topography Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature	16
	4.5. Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature	17
	4.6. Micro Topography And Amendment Interactions On Near Surface Soil Temperature	e17
	4.7. Mound Aspect Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature	18
	4.8. Applications to Reclamation	18
	5. Conclusions	19
III.	Micro Site And Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content	48 48
	2 Research Objectives And Hypotheses	40
	2.1 Objectives	49
	2.2. Hypotheses	49
	3. Materials And Methods	50
	3.1. Research Sites	50
	3.1.1. Mattheis Ranch	50
	3.1.2. Elk Island National Park	50
	3.1.3. Devonian Botanic Garden	51
	3.2. Experimental Design And Site Establishment	52
	3.3. Soil Micro Topography And Amendment Treatments	53
	3.4. Research Site Instrumentation	53
	3.5. Soil Sampling And Analysis	54
	3.6. Statistical Analyses	55
		33

	4.1. Soil Properties	. 55
	4.2. Site Meteorological Conditions	. 56
	4.3. General Treatment Trends For Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content	. 56
	4.4. Micro Topography Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content	. 57
	4.5. Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content	. 57
	4.6. Micro Topography And Amendment Interactions On Near Surface Soil Volumetric	
	Water Content	. 58
	4.7. Mound Aspect Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content	. 58
	4.8. Applications To Reclamation	. 58
	5. Conclusions	. 59
IV	Summary Applications And Future Research	80
IV	1 Research Summary	. 00 . 80
	2. Applications For Reclamation	. 80
	3. Study Limitations	. 81
	4. Recommendations For Future Research	. 82
V.	References	. 82

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.	Soil surface properties at Devonian Botanic Garden	.20
Table 2.2.	Soil surface properties at Elk Island National Park	.21
Table 2.3.	Soil surface properties at Mattheis Ranch	.22
Table 2.4.	Meteorological conditions at Devonian Botanic Garden	.23
Table 2.5.	Meteorological conditions at Elk Island National Park	.24
Table 2.6.	Meteorological conditions at Mattheis Ranch	.25
Table 2.7.	Near surface soil temperature at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012	.26
Table 2.8.	Near surface soil temperature at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013	.27
Table 2.9.	Near surface soil temperature at Elk Island National Park in 2012	.28
Table 2.10.	Near surface soil temperature at Elk Island National Park in 2013	.29
Table 2.11.	Near surface soil temperature at Mattheis Ranch in 2013	.30
Table 3.1.	Soil surface properties at Devonian Botanic Garden	.60
Table 3.2.	Soil surface properties at Elk Island National Park	.61
Table 3.3.	Soil surface properties at Mattheis Ranch	.62
Table 3.4.	Meteorological conditions at Devonian Botanic Garden	.63
Table 3.5.	Meteorological conditions at Elk Island National Park	.64
Table 3.6.	Meteorological conditions at Mattheis Ranch	.65
Table 3.7.	Near surface soil volumetric water content at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012	.66
Table 3.8.	Near surface soil volumetric water content at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013	.67
Table 3.9.	Near surface soil volumetric water content at Elk Island National Park in 2012	.68
Table 3.10.	Near surface soil volumetric water content at Elk Island National Park in 2013	.69
Table 3.11.	Near surface soil volumetric water content at Mattheis Ranch in 2013	.70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Devonian Botanic Garden throughout the study period	31
Figure 2.2.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Elk Island	. 51
	National Park throughout the study period	. 32
Figure 2.3.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Mattheis Ranch throughout the study period	33
Figure 2.4	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Devonian Botanic	. 00
1.9010 2111	Garden in 2012 growing season	. 34
Figure 2.5.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Devonian Botanic	25
Eiguro 2.6	Maan weekly pear surface soil temperature for misre sites at Devenian Betania	. 35
Figure 2.6.	Garden in 2013 growing season	. 36
Figure 2.7.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island	
0.	National Park in 2012 growing season	. 37
Figure 2.8.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island	
0	National Park in 2012-2013 winter season	. 38
Figure 2.9.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island	
0	National Park in 2013 growing season	. 39
Figure 2.10.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Mattheis Ranch in	
0	2013 growing season	.40
Figure 2.11.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian	-
0.	Botanic Garden in 2012 growing season	.41
Figure 2.12.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian	
0	Botanic Garden in 2012-2013 winter season	.42
Figure 2.13.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian	
0	Botanic Garden in 2013 growing season	.43
Figure 2.14.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island	
0	National Park in 2012 growing season	.44
Figure 2.15.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island	
•	National Park in 2012-2013 winter season	.45
Figure 2.16.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island	
-	National Park in 2013 growing season	.46
Figure 2.17.	Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Mattheis Ranch	
-	in 2013 growing season	.47
Figure 3.1.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at	
	Devonian Botanic Garden throughout the study period	.71
Figure 3.2.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at Elk	
	Island National Park throughout the study period	.72
Figure 3.3.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at	
-	Mattheis Ranch throughout the study period	.73
Figure 3.4.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at	
	Devonian Botanic Garden from June 2012 to August 2013	.74
Figure 3.5.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at Elk	
	Island National Park from June 2012 to August 2013	.75
Figure 3.6.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at	
	Mattheis Ranch from June 2012 to August 2013	.76
Figure 3.7.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at	

	Devonian Botanic Garden from June 2012 to August 2013	77
Figure 3.8.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at Elk	
-	Island National Park from June 2012 to August 2013	78
Figure 3.9.	Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at	
-	Mattheis Ranch from June 2012 to August 2013	79

I. INTRODUCTION

1. BACKGROUND

Increasing economic development and world population growth have been accelerating land use changes related to agricultural intensification, infrastructure development, oil and gas extraction, mining and industrial and urban expansion, which continually decrease the area and health of many global ecosystems (Holechek et al. 2004, Foote and Krogman 2006, Young et al. 2006). These rapidly changed land areas are more likely to be invaded with non-native plant species that result in significant changes to the native plant community composition (Henderson and Naeth 2005, Stover 2013).

For example, in the Aspen Parkland of central Alberta, most of the grassland outside protected areas has been impacted by anthropogenic disturbances, primarily through cultivation, afforestation (Young et al. 2006) and oil and gas extraction. Dry mixed grass prairie has been reduced to only 43 % of its original area in Alberta (Adams et al. 2005). These ecosystems still support a wide diversity of vegetation and wildlife, including rare and protected species, and produce high quality forage for livestock grazing among the many environmental services they provide. Conservation and reclamation of the diminishing natural areas are thus of critical importance to maintain biodiversity that supports ongoing ecosystem services.

2. MICRO SITE IMPACTS ON VEGETATION

Land reclamation requires successful germination, emergence and establishment of desired plant species. However, efforts to reclaim and restore native grasslands and other plant communities through seeding in central and southern Alberta, such as after oil and gas disturbances (e.g. well sites, pipelines, batteries), often result in poor establishment of native plant species (Elsinger 2009, Desserud et al. 2010, Desserud 2011). Particularly in environments with low productivity, both seed and micro sites can be limiting factors for seed germination and plant establishment (Eskelinen and Virtanen 2005). Increased seed germination and subsequent plant establishment may be achieved through the creation of favourable micro sites and through seeding a diversity of plant species (Naeth unpublished data, Cohen Fernandez 2012).

Micro sites are small variations in topography (lower or higher), ranging from millimetres to metres in size. Micro sites can have positive effects on seeds and seedlings by protecting them

from predators and the elements, reducing evaporation, increasing soil water, increasing snow cover, stabilizing soil, reducing near surface soil temperature fluctuations, reducing exposure to harsh sunlight and providing mycorrhizae necessary for seedling establishment (Carlsson and Callaghan 1991, Eldridge et al. 1991, Forbes and Jefferies 1999, Maher and Germino 2006, Stevens 2006, Naeth and Wilkinson 2011, Drozdowski et al. 2012, Naeth and Wilkinson 2014, Rotundo et al. 2015).

Seedling establishment can be impacted if there is a lack of suitable micro sites, especially with exposed soils, such as those in newly revegetated sites (Galatowitsch 2008). Areas with high micro site diversity might facilitate establishment of a more diverse suite of species (Lundholm and Larson 2003). Studies suggest spatial variability at the micro environmental scale can increase community density and species richness during establishment and that incoming seed diversity has positive effects on community density, particularly during early succession (Sterling et al. 1984, Richardson et al. 2012, Naeth and Wilkinson 2014). Seed response to micro topography can be species specific and thus the number of species that establish may be directly related to the various micro sites available (Harper et al. 1965).

Naeth and Wilkinson (2010) found that in the first year following reclamation, plants were more likely to germinate and establish near shelter, even at the micro topographic scale. Substrates creating surface variability had greater germination and establishment (Kwiatkowski 2007). The success of gravel treatments may result from surface roughness sheltering plants from wind and water erosion (Naeth and Wilkinson 2010). Plant cover and density at reclamation sites tend to be higher in depressions, crevices and adjacent to large rocks (Naeth and Wilkinson 2011, Naeth and Wilkinson 2014).

Manipulation of micro topography and further modification of micro habitat with amendments may result in increased heterogeneity and in favourable changes to soil water, light and nutrient availabilities. This may favour woody species establishment of naturally dispersed trees and shrubs onto sites with higher surface soil water and nutrient contents (Kochy and Wilson 2005, Partel and Helm 2007). Patchiness or spatial heterogeneity can greatly increase the potential for the coexistence of various organisms and species (Chesson 1985, Chesson 2000, Walker and del Moral 2003, Questad and Foster 2008). The decline of micro topographic features has resulted in reduction of native plant abundance in some environments (Werner and Zedler 2002). Micro site heterogeneity is associated with plant species richness (Lundholm and Larson 2003). Particularly in harsh environments, depressions and concave surfaces may increase soil water content and provide shelter (Marteinsdottir et al. 2013).

2

In dry mixed grass prairie and other xeric grasslands, micro sites that result in more available soil water and buffered soil temperature will be very important for early plant establishment (Oomes and Elberse 1976, Lauenroth et al. 1994), and therefore for reclamation success. They will reduce or prevent desiccation of seed and seedlings. Factors that affect regeneration of micro habitats include abiotic and biotic factors, such as species specific needs, extent of vegetation or cryptogamic cover, predators, facilitation, competition and physical and chemical interactions (Anderson and Bliss 1998, Kuuluvainen and Juntunen 1998, Ostendorf and Reynolds 1998, Battaglia et al. 2000).

Fine scale physical differences between sites may result in large scale gradients in vegetation types (Kuntz and Larson 2006). For example, a technique that has positively affected plant communities of various ecosystems in both short and long terms is the construction of mounds (Huenneke and Sharitz 1986, Hough-Snee et al. 2011). Seedlings can colonize mound micro sites differently, with xeric species favouring mound tops and windward sides and mesic ones favouring north-east sites (Hough-Snee et al. 2011).

One study found mounding had a positive effect on the growth and survival of several species seeded for a grassland restoration of a landfill (Ewing 2002). This study also showed effects of pits. Another study examining pits and mounds found that even fine scale micro sites can lead to differences in plant species colonization, which maintains the diversity of the plant community in woodland (Peterson et al. 1990). Rangeland species are thought to prefer pits because they provide suitable near surface soil temperature and soil water conditions (Evans and Young 1972). However, mounding and pitting do not consistently increase native species composition and survival in the long term (Biederman and Whisenant 2011).

Erosion control blankets improved seedling establishment in eroded dunes (Maun and Krajnyk 1989). Manure decreased basal area of short grasses and either did not affect tall grasses or increased their vegetation cover (Smoliak et al. 1972). Manure amendment additions can modify the botanical composition of northern Great Plains prairies (Smoliak et al. 1972). Mackenzie and Naeth (2010) found LFH mineral soil mix had more vegetation emerging than peat, partially due to more micro sites created from woody debris and organic materials. Hydrophilic polymers (hydrogels) can be used in revegetation in areas with low precipitation or poor soil-water retention to increase soil water holding capacity (Galatowitsch 2008, Williamson et al. 2011). Hydrophilic polymers have inconsistent effects on plant growth and survival being positive (Huttermann et al. 1999), slightly positive (Rowe et al. 2005) and neutral (Williamson et al. 2011). One recent study found that seedling establishment in semiarid prairie sites under

reclamation can be facilitated by mulch due to its effects on seedbed conditions, with low mulch rates increasing native plant establishment during the critical first year of prairie reclamation as they were able to overcome micro site limitations (Mollard et al. 2014).

Although the research to date clearly shows positive and negative impacts of micro sites on plants through changes in soil properties, these impacts are not well understood from a reclamation perspective. Manipulation of micro topography and further modification of micro habitat with amendments may result in increased heterogeneity and beneficial effects for seeds and seedlings. It is necessary to understand what components of this heterogeneity are most important for plant establishment when reclaiming mixed grassland and how favourable ranges of soil water, temperature and nutrients can be achieved at constructed micro sites for a variety of plant species and ecosystems.

3. MICRO SITE IMPACTS ON SOIL PROPERTIES

One study reviewed the research on revegetation of arctic sites after anthropogenic disturbance (Forbes and Jefferies 1999). Natural disturbance often reduces organic matter on the soil surface, changing heat flux between the soil surface and the atmosphere, leading to rough and porous soil surfaces and higher surface soil temperatures. Differences in surface soil temperature between areas with and without micro sites were found by various researchers.

Mounds are usually drier, lower in nutrients and organic matter, have lower cation exchange capacity, litter and snow cover and greater seasonal surface soil temperature fluctuations than depressions (Beatty 1984, Price et al. 1998). Mounds can have high surface soil temperatures, increasing decomposition rates and nutrient availability (Walker and del Moral 2003, Bruland and Richardson 2005).

One study characterized the distribution patterns of vascular plant species within micro sites (cryptogamic crust covers, symmetrical geometric nets and strips) of a polar desert on Devon Island in northern Canada (Anderson and Bliss 1998). At 5 cm depths in soil, maximum temperatures were higher in the center of flat ground than in transition micro sites (between flat ground and the stone board of patterned ground) by as much as 1 to 2 °C. Studies of micro sites (mounds and pits) in a forest caused by a wind throw in the Coweeta Basin, North Carolina (Clinton and Baker 2000) and the distribution pattern of understory plants within micro sites in a maple beech forest in New York (Beatty 1984), found mounds were warmer in summer and cooler in winter than pits. Greatest differences were often between the pit bottom and the

mound top (Clinton and Baker 2000). There were no significant differences in surface soil temperature between micro sites of mounds and pits combined with hemlock (Beatty 1984).

Micro site surface soil temperature differences can affect early plant development. Forbis et al. (2004) studied the impact of gopher mounds on seedling establishment in the Niwot Ridge, Colorado. Seedling establishment on gopher mounds decreased at the beginning of the study up to five years, then increased to a higher level than that of the undisturbed area and finally decreased back to the same level of the undisturbed area after twenty years. Surface soil temperature of the mound top had no effect on seed germination (Forbis et al. 2004). Pits were expected to have more species richness and cover than mounds because pits offer more favourable growing conditions (moderate surface soil temperature) than mounds (Beatty 1984). The greatest micro site differences in soil water were between pit bottom and mound top (Clinton and Baker 2000). Soil water was generally higher in pits than in mounds (Beatty 1984, Clinton and Baker 2000).

Diversity of soil micro topography can significantly affect uptake of soil water in plant seedling establishment (Harper et al. 1965). Soil water content had an effect on seed germination and seedling longevity and saturated soil was required for germination of most arctic species (Oberbauer and Miller 1982). As pits provide greater available soil water in summer, more species established in pits (Beatty 1984).

Mulch can help to conserve soil water (Chakraborty et al. 2008, Balwinder-Singh et al. 2011). Mulch can alter the response of the soil surface to atmospheric energy and water fluxes. By affecting the mass transfer of water vapour, mulch can make the beneficial effects of a rainfall event last longer. In northern great plain grasslands, a matted layer of dead grass is important in maintaining a cool, humid environment (Ripley and Redman 1976). In the cool temperate prairies high amounts of litter can improve soil water retention and could be an effective drought management strategy (Willms et al. 1986, Willms et al. 1993, Naeth et al. 1991, Deustch et al. 2010). Litter effectiveness is usually reduced when soil water is not available or in good supply from precipitation (Willms et al. 1993).

The use of hydrogels, which are synthetic acrylic polyacrylamides with a salt base, may enhance soil water retention capacity and plant available water. This will assist plant germination and establishment, especially in arid environments (Akhter et al. 2004). Hydrogels have shown considerable positive effects for revegetation in northern arctic areas after mining (Kidd and Rossow 1998). Various researchers found similar positive effects on revegetation in other areas (Sarvaš et al. 2007).

5

Various types of physical disturbances often lead to mineral soil exposure and to soil chemical property changes (Forbes and Jefferies 1999). In other research, mounds were usually more acidic than were pits (Beatty 1984), which may affect acid sensitive plant species. Pits provided a more moderate pH than did mounds and therefore generally had greater plant species richness and cover (Beatty 1984).

4. GENERAL RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The goal of this research program was to determine what components of micro sites are most important for plant establishment when reclaiming grasslands and to determine how favourable ranges of soil water, surface soil temperature and nutrients can be achieved at constructed micro sites. This research quantifies the effects of micro sites on selected soil properties which increase germination, emergence and establishment of selected native species.

Specific research program objectives were as follows.

- To quantify the relationship between 24 hours and seasonal near surface soil temperature and micro sites.
- To quantify the relationship between soil water (volumetric water content) and micro sites.
- To quantify the relationships between soil properties and micro sites.
- To determine the effect of selected soil properties (near surface soil temperature, volumetric water content and electrical conductivity) in micro sites on germination, emergence and persistence of select native plant species.

This MSc research project specifically focused on the first two objectives. Another research study by post doctoral fellows addressed the effects on vegetation. The research results on near surface soil temperature and soil water content are presented in the following two chapters.

II. MICRO SITE AND AMENDMENT EFFECTS ON NEAR SURFACE SOIL TEMPERATURE

1. INTRODUCTION

Micro sites and amendments can be used in land reclamation to mitigate the harsh conditions that have been created with disturbance. Most anthropogenic disturbances and even natural disturbance can reduce organic matter content of the soil surface, changing heat flux between the soil surface and the atmosphere, leading to rough and porous soil surfaces and higher surface soil temperatures (Forbes and Jefferies, 1999). These conditions can create unfavourable conditions for revegetation and plant community development.

Topography differences that cause surface soil temperature differences are well documented. Anderson and Bliss (1998) characterized the distribution patterns of vascular plant species within micro sites (cryptogamic crust covers, symmetrical geometric nets and strips) of a polar desert on Devon Island in northern Canada. At 5 cm depths in soil, maximum temperatures were higher in the center of flat ground than in transition micro sites between flat ground and the stone board of patterned ground by as much as 1 to 2 °C. Studies evaluating the micro sites (mounds and pits) in a forest caused by a wind throw in the Coweeta Basin, North Carolina (Clinton and Baker 2000) and quantifying the distribution pattern of understory plants within micro sites (mounds, pits and undisturbed area) in a maple-beech forest in New York (Beatty 1984) provided quantitative information on effects of micro sites on surface soil temperature. Mounds were warmer in summer and cooler in winter than pits (Beatty 1984, Clinton and Baker 2000). However, there were no significant differences in surface soil temperature between micro sites of mounds and pits combined with hemlock (Beatty 1984).

Mounds are usually drier, lower in nutrients and organic matter, have lower cation exchange capacity, litter and snow cover and greater seasonal surface soil temperature fluctuations than depressions (Beatty 1984, Price et al. 1998). Mounds can have high surface soil temperatures, increasing decomposition rates and nutrient availability (Walker and del Moral 2003, Bruland and Richardson 2005).

Micro site surface soil temperature differences can affect early plant development. One study found impacts of gopher mounds on seedling establishment in the Niwot Ridge, Colorado (Forbis et al. 2004). Seedling establishment on gopher mounds decreased within the first five years, then increased to a higher level than that of the undisturbed area and then decreased

again to the same level of the undisturbed area after twenty years. Surface soil temperature of the mound top had no effect on seed germination. Pits were expected to have more species richness and cover than mounds because pits provide more favourable growing conditions (moderate surface soil temperature) than mounds (Beatty 1984).

A combination of micro sites and amendments can be useful to employ in land reclamation. In harsh climates, in particular, such as dry grassland and northern tundra types, even small amounts of increased soil water can have a significant and positive effect on seed germination and on seedling establishment and survival. Since a rapid establishment of cover in these reclamation scenarios is important and necessary micro sites and amendments may facilitate successful revegetation.

2. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES

2.1 Objectives

The objectives of this research were to determine whether micro topography and amendments affected near surface soil temperature. Specific research objectives were as follows.

- To quantify effects of micro topography (flat, pit and mound) on near surface soil temperature.
- To quantify effects of amendments (control, hydrogel, manure, blanket, straw and grass) on near surface soil temperature.
- To quantify interactions among micro topography and amendments on near surface soil temperature.
- To quantify effects of mound aspects on near surface soil temperature.

2.2 Hypotheses

For soil surface temperature, there are several major influencing environmental factors such as air temperature, soil background temperature and sun light. Soil surface volumetric water content can also affect surface soil temperature due to higher heat capacity of water than of soil, thus influencing soil temperature.

During the hot season, especially the summer, near surface air temperature average would be expected to be lower for soil background than that for air. During the cold season, especially winter, the opposite is true. Thus in summer pits would be expected to be lower in near surface soil temperature than mounds because pits are closer to the surrounding soil and mainly

affected by soil background values. Mounds are farther from the surrounding soil and thus mainly affected by air temperature. Higher soil water content in pits can further lower near surface soil temperature in summer more than in the mounds. In winter, the opposite should be true. Greater snow cover in pits can increase the insulation effect of snow and thus further block the energy and matter exchange between air and soil. The insulation effect should further increase the temperature of pits.

Erosion control blankets and grass and straw cover amendments can decrease the near surface soil temperature during hot seasons, especially summer, because these amendments are covers on top of soil, physically blocking sun light and providing shade for soil. Hydrogel and manure should be lower in surface soil temperature due to higher soil water content of these two amendments.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Research Sites

Multiple locations were required for the research to determine the effect of local environmental conditions on micro sites. The Mattheis Ranch site (hereafter called Mattheis) was in grassland and the other two sites, Elk Island National Park (hereafter called Elk Island) and the Devonian Botanic Garden (hereafter called Devonian), were in the parkland of Alberta. These areas represent those requiring revegetation from multiple disturbances, such as overgrazing, oil and gas exploration and development and mining.

3.1.1. Mattheis Ranch

The Mattheis Ranch study site is located near Brooks, Alberta, 430 km south of Edmonton, Alberta, in the Dry Mixedgrass Natural Subregion. Average elevation is 800 m above sea level (575 to 1100 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Soils are mainly Brown Chernozems. Native vegetation is dominated by low growing, drought tolerant, mixed grass communities including *Bouteloua gracilis* (Willd. ex Kunth) Lag. ex Griffiths (blue grama grass) and *Hesperostipa comata* (Trin. & Rupr.) Barkworth (needle and thread grass), *Koeleria macrantha* Schult (june grass) (Ledeb.) Schultes and *Pascopyrum smithii* (Rydb.) Á. Löve (western wheat grass) with numerous forbs. According to data from the closest weather station, at Brooks (50°33'00.000" N, 111°51'00.000" W), maximum air temperature was 40 °C, and averaged 12.4 °C during the growing season (April to October) (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 347.6 mm.

The study site is in the southern portion of the W10 paddock, an old pivot irrigation area. The land was farmed for many years then seeded with *Bromus inermis* Leyss. (smooth brome grass) to provide a forage cover when farming ceased. Native grassland species have since established naturally at the site. The area was recently characterized as having 60 % plant cover and 40 % bare ground. Soil texture is loamy sand.

3.1.2. Elk Island National Park

Elk Island National Park is located approximately 45 km east of Edmonton on Highway 16, in the Dry Mixed Wood Natural Subregion. Average elevation is 600 m (225 to 1225 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Soils are mainly Orthic Gray Luvisols and Dark Gray Luvisols. Vegetation is characterized by forests of *Populus tremuloides* Michx. (trembling aspen) and *Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss (white spruce). Common herbaceous vegetation includes *Stipa spartea* Hitchc. (porcupine grass), *Koeleria macrantha* and *Elymus trachycaulus* (Link) Gould ex Shinners (slender wheat grass). According to data from the closest weather station at Elk Island National Park Point (53°53'00.000" N, 111°04'00.000" W), average air temperature in the growing season (April to October) was 10.4 °C and average maximum air temperature was 38.9 °C (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 482.5 mm.

The site is located in the northern portion of the park at NW-13-54-20-W4M. It is 13.9 km from the park entrance at Highway 16 and positioned approximately 300 m east of the parkway, directly across from the golf course equipment shop. The entire site encompasses approximately 480 m². Trees border the east, west and south sides of the site and an open meadow is located north of the site.

The research site was a historical landfill created in the 1930s and decommissioned in the early 1970s. Refuse was initially covered with soil and untouched until summer 1997 when Park staff reclaimed landfills that had some surface dumping and refuse buried beneath a shallow layer of topsoil. The landfill was decommissioned in August 1997. The site was denuded of vegetation for an MSc research project by cutting and herbicide (Van Bostelen 2003). The landfilled material was removed and a heavy equipment operator used the bucket on the front end loader to contour the sub soil at the site to predisturbance levels. Topsoil was not replaced and soil compaction resulted from the use of heavy equipment. When the landfilled sites were cleaned out, soil testing was done by O'Connor Associates to ensure there were no contaminants in the landfills. All of the soil laboratory analyses indicated the sites met the required government criteria (Van Bostelen 2003).

3.1.3. Devonian Botanic Garden

The Devonian Botanic Garden site is 42.3 km southwest of Edmonton, Alberta, in the Central Parkland Subregion. Average elevation of the Central Parkland Natural Subregion is 750 m (500 to 1250 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Soils are mainly Black Chernozems with some Dark Gray Chernozems and significant occurrences of Solonetzic soils. Vegetation is characterized by forest interspersed with prairie associated with hummocky till or eolian materials. Common vegetation includes *Corylus cornuta* Marsh (beaked hazelnut), *Cornus canadensis* L. (bunch berry), *Maianthemum canadense* L. (wild lily of the valley) and *Aralia nudicaulis* L. (wild sarsaparilla). According to data from the closest weather station at Edmonton Woodbend (53°25' N, 113°45' W), maximum air temperature was 35.5 °C in the growing season (April to October) with averages of 10.7 °C (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 508.0 mm.

The site is an abandoned well site of Imperial Oil Ltd. The oil well started production in 1947 and was closed in 1993 according to official records. Before industrial development, the Devonian Botanic Garden Orchid Club used the site to grow plants. In 2012 field observation showed organic matter had been added with tillage. The site is surrounded by forest and wetlands and was likely covered by forest before well site establishment and development.

3.2. Experimental Design And Site Establishment

The experiment was a completely randomized design at each of the research sites. Three micro topographic treatments consisted of mounds, pits and flat land. These treatments were assessed in combination with four micro site amendments proven successful in various reclamation treatments in other sites (Naeth various) and an unamended control. The amendments were erosion control blankets, weed free straw, fresh grass debris or hay, manure mix and hydrogel. The design is 3 micro topography treatments x 6 amendments x 5 replicates = 90 plots per site.

All vegetation was removed from each site prior to establishment of the treatments, using glyphosate at a rate of 8 L/ha applied by a tractor pulled crop sprayer at Mattheis in mid May and a backpack sprayer at Elk Island and Devonian in late May. Soil was rototilled to a depth of 15 cm; 10 days later at Mattheis and 7 days later at Elk Island and Devonian.

Plant species selected for study were native components of the plant community of the area. Grass species were *Hesperostipa comata*, *Elymus trachycaulus*, *Koeleria macrantha*, *Bromus ciliatus* L. (fringed brome grass) and *Bouteloua gracilis* Lag. ex Griffiths (blue grama grass).

11

Forb species were *Linum lewisii* Pursch (wild blue flax), *Geum triflorum* Pursch (prairie smoke), and *Astragalus canadensis* L. (Canada milk vetch).

Each site was seeded at least two weeks after herbicide application by hand broadcasting at a rate of 350 pure live seed m^{-2} for the mix. This rate was based on previous research by Dr Naeth and her research team. Individual species were each included in the mix at an equal rate. The 2 m x 2 m plot was divided into a center 1 m x 1 m plot and a surrounding buffer zone. The center plot was seeded by hand with 50 seeds counted individually for each plot. The buffer zone was seeded at 50 seeds per m^2 based on weight of number of seeds. Seeding was completed in 2012, June 22 and 23 at Elk Island, June 28 at Devonian and June 8 at Mattheis.

To avoid the impacts from herbivores, all research sites were fenced. Research areas were fenced with a standard four strand electric and barb wire fence at Mattheis, and with game fence at Elk Island and Devonian. The Devonian and Elk Island game fences were 2.4 m high with 12 gauge wire with 0.15 m x 0.10 m cells.

3.3. Soil Micro Topography And Amendment Treatments

Treatment plots were randomly distributed at each of the study sites. Plots were 2 m x 2 m at Mattheis and Elk Island. Due to the smaller area available for research at Devonian, plots were smaller, at $1.5 \text{ m} \times 1.5 \text{ m}$.

Pits, approximately 10 cm deep and 25 cm wide, were created by digging a hole in the ground with a shovel in the center of each of plot. Mounds were formed in the center of each plot using the soil extracted from the depression and buffer areas outside the plots, and molded with a flexible pipe. Mounds were round in shape, approximately 20 cm in height, with a 40 cm base width in the center of each of plot. Flat micro topography treatments served as the control to mounds and depressions.

Erosion control blankets were Nilex SC150BN made with coconut and straw. They were anchored with industrial grade staples and spread over the entire plot, after seeding was completed. Manure mix was applied at a rate of 39 Mg ha⁻¹ and incorporated into the soil. One year old wheat straw was applied as a cover at a low rate of 0.5 kg m⁻² at Mattheis. At Elk Island and Devonian straw was applied at 0.25 kg m⁻² after deciding that 0.5 kg m⁻² seemed to too high for the area and could hamper emergence. Native fresh grass, consisting of grass and forb leaves and stems and plant litter, was cut by hand and harvested two days later from adjacent areas at Mattheis. It was applied on the surface. Certified weed free hay was applied at Elk Island and Devonian. Hydrogel (Soil Moist), a synthetic acrylic polyacrylamide with a potassium

salt base, was mixed with soil water and applied according to manufacturer's instructions (337.5 kg ha⁻¹⁾ to increase plant available soil water.

3.4. Research Site Instrumentation

The research sites were each instrumented for documentation of environmental conditions. Near surface soil volumetric water content, electrical conductivity and temperature were measured with 5TE soil water sensors (Decagon Devices, United States) and Em50 digital/analog data loggers (Decagon Devices, United States). Soil sensors were installed after the manure mix and hydrogel were incorporated into the soil and before seeding and placement of straw, grass and hay. A 4 to 5 cm deep clear cut was dug at the sensor installation spot. The sensor cable was placed at a depth of 4 to 5 cm and length varied according to the distance of the sensor installation spot to the data logger. Sensors were installed horizontally as shown in the appendix at a 2 to 3 cm depth by positioning them into the soil in the trenches. Cables of sensors were anchored with staples to keep them stable. The positions of the sensors were in the center of the plot for flat and pit micro sites and in each of the northern, eastern, southern and western parts of the mound for mound micro sites. Positions of sensors were marked with coloured tape, with different colours for different directions (pink for north, orange for east, green for south, yellow for west). After installation, soil sensors were connected to data loggers.

Data for near surface soil temperature, electrical conductivity and volumetric water content were recorded in 30 minute intervals for each sensor for the duration of the study. The 5TE sensor measures soil volumetric water content by measuring soil dielectric permittivity, measures soil temperature by a thermistor and measures soil electrical conductivity by measuring the resistance between two electrodes. Data loggers were downloaded every two months before winter in 2012 and each month from May through October in 2013. Data from the winter period were downloaded in spring 2013 and 2014. Data loggers ran relatively well but there were minor amounts of missed data due to the malfunction of individual sensors.

One weather station (T HOBO U30-NRC Weather Station by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532) was installed for each site, at Mattheis on June 17 2012, Elk Island on June 22 2012 and Devonian on June 26 2012. Wind was measured by a wind speed smart sensor (S-WSA-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532) and a wind direction smart sensor (S-WDA-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532). Precipitation was measured by a rain gauge smart sensor (S-RGA-M002 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd.,

Bourne, MA 02532). Air temperature and relative humidity were measured by temperature/RH smart sensors (S-THB-M00X by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532). Light level was measured by a silicon pyranometer smart sensor (S-LIB-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532).

3.5. Soil Sampling And Analyses

One soil sample for general site characterization from three randomly selected plots per microsite-amendment treatment was collected after plot preparation and before seeding. Samples were taken from a corner of the plot to a depth of 10 cm. Samples were only taken in amendment treatments at Mattheis Ranch.

Samples were sent to a commercial laboratory for determination of soil properties, which are presented in Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3. Particle size distribution was measured by hydrometer method (Carter and Gregorich 2008). Organic and inorganic carbon were measured by gravimetric loss of CO₂ (Loeppert and Suarez 1996). Total carbon and total nitrogen were measured by combustion with a Carbo-Erba NA 1500 (Nelson and Sommers 1996). Electrical conductivity was measured by conductivity meter and pH was measured by pH meter; both in a saturated paste (Carter and Gregorich 2008). Saturation percent was by calculation in saturated paste (Carter and Gregorich 2008).

3.6. Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using two way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with R software (R Development Core Team 2012). The tukey's post hoc pairwise comparison test was used following a significant main effect. The shapiro Wilks test was used in testing normality of distribution. Homogeneity of variance was tested with the Bartlett's test.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Soil Properties

Devonian and Elk Island surface soils were sandy loam in texture (Tables 2.1, 2.2) and Mattheis surface soil was sand in texture (Table 2.3). Soil pH was near neutral at all three of the research sites, lowest at Mattheis. Total nitrogen was highest at Elk Island and lowest at Mattheis, with Devonian similar to Elk Island. According to the soil quality criteria for reclamation (Alberta Soils Advisory Committee 1987), the surface soils were rated good at all three sites for pH, electrical conductivity, calcium carbonate equivalent and saturation %. Organic carbon content was rated

good at Elk Island and Devonian and fair at Mattheis. Thus soils posed no problems for reclamation or for revegetation.

Amending the surface soil with manure increased electrical conductivity at all sites (Tables 2.1, 2.2, 2.3), but it was still rated good by surface soil reclamation criteria. Manure amendment increased total organic carbon and total nitrogen at Mattheis, increased total organic carbon at Devonian, and slightly reduced both total carbon and total nitrogen at Elk Island. Amending with straw increased total organic carbon and total nitrogen at Devonian and decreased it at Elk Island. Inorganic carbon at Elk Island was twice as high as at the other sites.

4.2. Site Meteorological Conditions

Meteorological conditions at the three sites were similar with 2012 being warmer than 2013 (Tables 2.4, 2.5, 2.6). Devonian had more precipitation in 2013 than in 2012, Elk Island had more in 2012 and Mattheis had similar precipitation in both 2012 and 2013. Values for precipitation and air temperature were similar to long term climate normals for the regions (Government of Canada 2015).

The precipitation and air temperature data showed the differences between parkland (Devonian and Elk Island) and grassland (Mattheis) ecosystems (Tables 2.4, 2.5, 2.6). Precipitation was lower in the parkland relative to the forests. Wind was much stronger in the grassland than the parkland. Air temperature was similar among the three sites throughout the whole year.

4.3. General Treatment Trends For Near Surface Soil Temperature

Near surface soil temperature patterns for treatments at Devonian and Elk Island were generally similar from an overview perspective for the duration of the study (Figures 2.1, 2.2). Near surface soil temperature patterns could be generally divided into three periods, spring to fall (generally mid May to the end of September), winter (generally started at the end of October to the end of April) and transition periods (between the spring and fall and winter periods). At Mattheis, with fewer data points, the pattern was still similar to that of the other two sites (Figure 2.3) from May to August.

The spring to fall period was the most dynamic (Figures 2.1, 2.2, 2.3). During this period, near surface soil temperature in each treatment rose and fell with the greatest frequencies and magnitude throughout the whole year. The differences among treatments were also highest.

The winter period (Figures 2.1, 2.2, 2.3) was the most inactive period of the year. Each treatment showed a nearly constant near surface soil temperature. The differences among

treatments were smallest but there was a clear order from highest to lowest treatment which remained unchanged throughout this period.

The transition period (Figures 2.1, 2.2, 2.3) was the shortest period. However, near surface soil temperature change was greatest in the whole year which happened within two to three weeks.

4.4. Micro Topography Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature

There was a clear response of soil near surface soil temperature to micro site treatments at all three sites (Tables 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.11). Flat control and mound micro sites often had significantly higher near surface soil temperatures in warm summer months and significantly lower near surface soil temperatures in cooler winter months than the pit micro sites. Near surface soil temperatures in mounds and flat controls were not significantly different at any of the study sites. At Elk Island, mound near surface soil temperatures were not significantly different than pit near surface soil temperatures in June and July 2012 (Table 2.9). These treatment responses are more visibly obvious in Figures 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9 and 2.10. Near surface soil temperatures in transition periods were similar among treatments at all sites.

Near surface soil temperatures in pits were lowest, as they would likely be more influenced by the background near surface soil temperatures of surrounding soil than by air temperature and sun radiation. The opposite would be true for near surface soil temperatures of flats and mounds. Air temperature would be higher than soil background temperatures in spring, summer and fall, and lower in winter. Transition seasonal near surface soil temperatures would be expectedly dynamic since topography effects are strongly influenced by seasonal change specially changes into and out of winter.

The obvious zippier response of near surface soil temperature in the summer weeks relative to that of the winter weeks would likely be due to other environmental factors influencing near surface soil temperature, such as vegetation. This has been shown in other studies. For example, vegetation in woodland was able to modify the under story and surrounding micro environment, decreasing the near surface soil temperature through blocking of the sun radiation (Breshears et al. 1998).

Similar to other studies in other types of environments (e.g. Peterson et al. 1990) near surface soil temperature response to micro sites was site specific and year specific. For example, the Devonian site had only one month in the transition period between winter and the other seasons, while Elk Island had two months between winter and the other seasons. Mattheis was not studied long enough to see if that pattern occurred. Elk Island near near surface soil

temperatures were significantly different from June to August 2012, with no significant differences in near surface soil temperature in that same period in the following year of 2013.

4.5. Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature

Response of soil near surface soil temperature to the amendments was not as significant as response of temperature to micro sites in either year of study. Although there were significant differences among the amendment treatments, there were few clear patterns of near surface soil temperature response at the three research sites (Tables 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.11) (Figures 2.11, 2.12, 2.13, 2.14, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17).

A few minor patterns were notable in near surface soil temperature response to amendments. At Devonian near surface soil temperatures in the erosion control blanket treatment tended to be lowest (Tables 2.7, 2.8) (Figures 2.11, 2.12, 2.13, 2.14, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17). Near surface soil temperatures in manure amendment treatments were often highest in summer. This response to erosion control blankets was similar at Elk Island in 2012 but not 2013, and was not evident at Mattheis (Tables 2.9, 2.10, 2.11, 2.12) (Figures 2.14, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17).

The lower near surface soil temperatures often found in the erosion control blanket treatment were not unexpected. Erosion control blankets form a thicker and denser cover than the other amendments do and hence can have a more remarkable effect on moderating temperatures. Covers can act as shade providers from direct sun radiation; thus lowering the temperature or preventing heat loss.

Response to amendments may be lowered as the amendments age and degrade, explaining some differences seen in 2012 but not 2013. The first month after soil sensors were set up showed more differences between amendments, perhaps due to much shorter time period and effects from installing of sensors.

The lack of clear significant amendment treatment effects may be due to the major background effects and application rate of amendments. All amendment effects were site specific, likely less influenced by seasons, but by so many other factors which may include sun radiation, wind and evaporation.

4.6. Micro Topography And Amendment Interactions On Near Surface Soil Temperature

Unexpectedly there were few significant interactions between micro sites and amendments (Tables 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.11). Perhaps, due to the constant effects of micro sites over riding

the lower effects of the amendments. It may also be due to the application rate of the amendments, which may have been too low to have a major effect.

4.7. Mound Aspect Effects On Near Surface Soil Temperature

Although near surface soil temperature varied with mound aspect, there were no significant treatment effects (Data not shown). South facing aspects, as expected, had the numerically highest near surface soil temperature, west was lower in near surface soil temperature than south, followed by east, while north was the lowest. Although differences with aspects were very low numerically, they may be high enough to affect seed germination.

4.8. Applications To Reclamation

Although the near surface soil temperature differences with micro sites were small numerically, they may be sufficiently different to affect seed germination and seedling survival and establishment. Often as little as a 1 °C change in temperature can affect germination, moving germination rates from optimum to sub optimum (Baskin and Baskin 2014). These values are expected to be very sensitive for native plant species (Naeth personal communication).

For example at Devonian in the first year, mound south manure and mound south grass had the highest near surface soil temperatures while mound straw had the lowest, among which the difference was 4 to 7.5 °C. In the second year, mound control had the highest near surface soil temperature while pit blanket and mound straw had the lowest, among which the difference was 2 to 6.5 °C. At Elk Island in the first year, flat manure had the highest near surface soil temperature while mound straw and pit hydrogel had the lowest, among which the difference was 2 to 5 °C. In the second year, mound control and mound manure had the highest near surface soil temperature while mound straw and pit hydrogel had the lowest, among which the difference was 2 to 5 °C. In the second year, mound control and mound manure had the highest near surface soil temperature while pit blanket and mound straw were lowest, among which the difference was 2 to 6 °C. These treatment differences were clearly high enough to affect seed germination and seedling survival.

Roberts (1988) clearly discussed ambient environmental temperature and seed germination relationships. Once seeds lost dormancy their rate of germination (reciprocal of the time taken to germinate) showed a positive linear relationship between base ambient environmental temperature (at and below which the germination rate is zero) and optimum environment temperature (at which the germination rate is maximal); and a negative linear relation between optimal environmental temperature and the ceiling environmental temperature (at and above which the germination rate is zero).

18

Mollard and Naeth (2014) and Mollard et al. (2014) showed that for some prairie plant species commonly used in reclamation, mulch affected seedbed temperatures and significantly filtered photosynthetically active radiation irradiance. For some treatments photosynthesis or photomorphogenesis of shaded seedlings were thought to have been light limited. These light effects on near surface soil temperature may in turn affect germination.

Baskin and Baskin (2014) discussing the various effects of environment temperature on seed germination, found some species had higher germinating seeds when the seeds are produced at higher environment temperatures. Although data for native species often used in reclamation are hard to find, studies on other plant groups clearly show seed germination response to environment temperature.

Thus small changes in near surface soil temperature may affect the germination rate of hard to establish plant species in reclamation. The ability to have heterogeneous micro sites in reclamation may affect which species will germinate and establish and which will not.

In a counterpart research project in this research program, Naeth et al. (2014) found that micro sites alone did not have as pronounced an effect on grass and forb seedling emergence and establishment as expected. Soil water and near surface soil temperature at a specific site and in a given year relative to other site factors such as non native plant species and erosion potential, likely played a key role in determining effect of micro sites on plant response. The responses of native grasses and forbs to micro sites vary, supporting the need for a diversity of micro sites on a reclamation site to accommodate species specific requirements and annual variability in precipitation and near surface soil temperature.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Micro sites had a significant effect on near surface soil temperature. These temperatures in flat areas and mounds were generally lower than those in pits in winter and higher at other times of the year. Amendments had little significant effect on near surface soil temperature. The only clear pattern among amendments was a slightly lower value with erosion control blankets.

Although differences in near surface soil temperatures among treatments were small in magnitude, they may be large enough to affect near temperature sensitive species for seed germination and seedling survival. Generally, micro sites and amendments can create heterogeneous conditions to meet potential soil temperature requirement of seeds.

19

	Inorganic Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)	CaCO3 Equivalent (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Electrical Conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	Saturation (%)	Total Nitrogen (%)	PH	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
Micro Site											
Flat	0.09 (0.02)	1.98 (0.25)	0.72 (0.15)	2.03 (0.23)	0.7 (0.2)	40.5 (2.7)	0.21 (0.03)	7.5 (0.1)	62 (4)	25 (3)	13 (1)
Mound	0.06 (0.01)	2.07 (0.25)	0.50 (0.10)	2.10 (0.24)	0.5 (0.1)	41.6 (0.8)	0.22 (0.02)	7.6 (0.0)	60 (5)	26 (3)	14 (1)
Pit	0.05 (0.00)	2.27 (0.25)	0.47 (0.07)	2.28 (0.21)	0.5 (0.1)	42.4 (2.2)	0.21 (0.03)	7.6 (0.0)	56 (5)	29 (4)	15 (1)
Amendment											
Blanket	0.05 (0.00)	1.97 (0.20)	0.40 (0.00)	1.97 (0.20)	0.4 (0.0)	38.0 (2.1)	0.22 (0.02)	7.5 (0.1)	62 (8)	25 (6)	14 (2)
Control	0.07 (0.02)	1.74 (0.32)	0.59 (0.19)	1.80 (0.31)	0.5 (0.0)	39.6 (2.4)	0.16 (0.02)	7.6 (0.0)	66 (7)	22 (6)	12 (2)
Grass	0.07 (0.02)	2.18 (0.39)	0.72 (0.16)	2.23 (0.39)	0.5 (0.0)	40.2 (1.9)	0.19 (0.06)	7.6 (0.0)	60 (6)	26 (5)	14 (1)
Hydrogel	0.08 (0.03)	2.04 (0.28)	0.66 (0.26)	2.10 (0.26)	0.4 (0.0)	40.3 (2.6)	0.21 (0.02)	7.5 (0.1)	60 (7)	27 (6)	14 (2)
Manure	0.07 (0.02)	2.43 (0.53)	0.60 (0.20)	2.47 (0.49)	1.2 (0.3)	47.9 (3.5)	0.25 (0.05)	7.5 (0.2)	53 (9)	32 (7)	15 (3)
Straw	0.05 (0.00)	2.27 (0.23)	0.40 (0.00)	2.27 (0.23)	0.4 (0.0)	42.9 (1.4)	0.28 (0.02)	7.6 (0.0)	56 (5)	29 (3)	15 (2)
P Value	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,		. ,	. ,	. ,		. ,	
Micro Site	0.115	0.684	0.250	0.724	0.709	0.807	0.728	0.505	0.939	0.952	0.678
Amendment	0.828	0.771	0.681	0.763	0.002	0.13	0.858	0.784	0.272	0.58	0.839

Table 2.1. Mean soil surface properties at Devonian Botanic Garden.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket

	Inorganic Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)	CaCO3 Equivalent (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Electrical Conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	Saturation (%)	Total Nitrogen (%)	PH	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
Micro Site											
Flat	0.15	2.63	1.24	2.78	0.9	59.5	0.28	7.3	54	28	18
	(0.03)	(0.32)	(0.26)	(0.33)	(0.1)	(3.3)	(0.04)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Mound	0.13	3.01	1.04	3.13	1.0	61.9	0.34	7.2	52	29	19
	(0.02)	(0.30)	(0.15)	(0.32)	(0.2)	(2.2)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(0)	(1)	(1)
Pit	0.14	3.60	1.17	3.72	1.1	63.0	0.35	7.1	55	29	16
	(0.03)	(0.42)	(0.28)	(0.38)	(0.2)	(3.6)	(0.04)	(0.1)	(1)	(2)	(2)
Amendment											
Blanket	0.12	2.95	0.95	3.03	0.8	65.4	0.35	7.2	53	28	19
	(0.04)	(0.21)	(0.31)	(0.27)	(0.1)	(3.0)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(2)
Control	0.09	3.77	0.76	3.83	0.8	63.6	0.39	7.1	54	32	14
	(0.02)	(0.61)	(0.18)	(0.56)	(0.0)	(5.7)	(0.06)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Grass	0.11 (0.03)	3.75 (0.45)	0.91 (0.27)	3.83 (0.38)	0.8 (0.1)	65.7 (2.8)	0.39 (0.02)	7.2 (0.1)	54 (3)	31 (1)	16 (3)
Hydrogel	0.20 (0.04)	2.25 (0.19)	1.64 (0.35)	2.47 (0.15)	0.8 (0.1)	53.7 (3.4)	0.21 (0.05)	7.3 (0.1)	54 (1)	27 (1)	19 (1)
Manure	0.17	3.28	1.39	3.47	1.8	60.5	0.31	7.3	55	26	19
	(0.03)	(0.81)	(0.28)	(0.85)	(0.2)	(6.0)	(0.06)	(0.0)	(1)	(2)	(1)
Straw	0.15	2.48	1.24	2.63	1.0	59.8	0.30	7.1	53	27	20
	(0.05)	(0.15)	(0.43)	(0.22)	(0.0)	(1.0)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(1)	(0)	(1)
P Value											
Micro Site	0.822	0.181	0.843	0.185	0.741	0.718	0.367	0.188	0.057	0.826	0.326
Amendment	0.432	0.183	0.402	0.237	< 0.001	0.346	0.089	0.471	0.875	0.021	0.178

Table 2.2. Mean soil surface properties at Elk Island National Park.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket

Inorganic Organic CaCO3 Total Electrical Total Saturation Silt Clay Sand Conductivity Nitrogen PH Carbon Carbon Equivalent Carbon (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (dS m⁻¹) (%) Amendment Blanket NA 0.05 0.4 1.07 0.4 1.09 40.4 0.17 6.2 90 8 3 Control (0.00)(0.15)(0.00)(0.13)(0.0)(0.7) (0.02)(0.1) (1) (1) (0) 84 5 0.05 1.05 0.4 1.03 0.5 41.7 0.12 6.4 11 Grass (0.00)(0.04)(0.00)(0.03)(0.1)(2.4)(0.00)(4) (3) (2) (0.1) 0.05 1.25 0.4 1.27 0.7 42.4 0.15 6.7 87 10 3 Hydrogel (0) (0.00)(0.13)(0.00)(0.12)(0.1)(1.6)(0.01)(0.1) (1) (1) **8**7 0.05 1.48 0.4 1.50 1.1 44 0.20 6.7 10 3 Manure (0.00)(0.12)(0.3) (1) (1) (0) (0.10)(0.00)(0.5)(1.8)(0.01)0.05 1.32 0.4 1.33 0.6 40.5 0.12 6.3 87 3 10 Straw (0) (0.00) (0.04)(0.00) (0.07) (0.2)(0.9) (0.02)(0.1) (1) (1) P Value 0.452 0.071 0.452 0.003 Amendment 0.044 0.312 0.533 0.166 0.53 0.574 0.448

Table 2.3. Mean soil surface properties at Mattheis Ranch.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket.

NA = Not applicable.

	Air T	emperature	(°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Wind	Wind Speed (m / s)		
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min	
2012								
June	16.82	27.70	3.83	0.20	0.26	2.27	0.00	
July	18.16	33.68	4.69	144.4	0.13	2.27	0.00	
August *	17.38	28.99	3.17	30.4	0.06	1.01	0.00	
September	11.44	27.65	-1.13	21.6	0.22	2.52	0.00	
October	0.80	20.25	-12.53	21.4	0.25	2.77	0.00	
November	-7.92	10.00	-26.31	12.6	0.11	3.27	0.00	
December	-15.62	2.05	-30.48	0.20	0.02	2.01	0.00	
2013								
January	-10.06	10.27	-28.92	17.4	0.20	2.52	0.00	
February	-4.79	10.17	-18.92	14.0	0.25	3.78	0.00	
March	-6.80	11.90	-27.46	17.6	0.23	2.27	0.00	
April	0.57	20.44	-21.92	18.6	0.49	3.02	0.00	
May	13.10	31.66	-7.25	29.2	0.43	2.52	0.00	
June	14.50	29.44	3.27	91.0	0.13	2.27	0.00	
July	16.06	35.21	2.24	85.8	0.11	1.51	0.00	
August	16.30	28.54	3.43	44.4	0.03	1.01	0.00	
September	12.04	31.69	-6.11	3.8	0.09	2.27	0.00	
October	4.02	19.10	-12.42	11.6	0.15	2.52	0.00	
November	-7.70	10.74	-30.90	16.4	0.05	1.26	0.00	

 Table 2.4. Meteorological conditions at Devonian Botanic Garden.

* Data were lost from August 8 to 28 2012.

Numbers are means.

	Air T	emperature	(°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Wind Speed (m / s)			
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min	
2012								
June	17.13	26.74	7.97	12.0	0.34	2.01	0.00	
July	18.27	33.26	7.87	133.6	0.23	2.01	0.00	
August	16.35	30.62	5.75	2.6	0.14	1.76	0.00	
September	12.29	26.40	0.47	0.2	0.29	2.52	0.00	
October	0.73	19.25	-16.20	15.8	0.47	3.02	0.00	
November	-8.32	10.00	-21.92	16.4	0.21	2.52	0.00	
December	-14.78	1.37	-28.86	0.0	0.12	2.52	0.00	
2013					0.26			
January	-10.44	7.04	-30.48	22.8	0.34	2.77	0.00	
February	-5.15	10.32	-17.60	10.6	0.41	3.02	0.00	
March	-6.62	12.51	-19.89	10.2	0.51	3.27	0.00	
April	0.10	17.84	-17.00	23.6	0.79	4.53	0.00	
May	13.20	30.39	-11.04	30.0	0.62	4.78	0.00	
June	14.11	28.30	4.79	63.0	0.23	2.27	0.00	
July	15.61	32.61	3.35	15.6	0.18	2.27	0.00	
August	16.46	28.72	6.41	2.6	0.06	1.51	0.00	
September	12.65	30.42	-1.99	4.4	0.23	2.01	0.00	
October	4.39	17.30	-11.54	13.4	0.29	3.02	0.00	
November	-7.48	9.31	-29.19	16.8	0.14	1.76	0.00	

Table 2.5. Meteorological conditions at Elk Island National Park.

Numbers are means.

	Air T	emperature	(°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Wind Speed (m / s)				
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min		
2012									
July	20.95	34.44	5.28	13.6	1.81	8.31	0.00		
August	18.01	34.12	2.66	45.4	1.56	7.55	0.00		
September	13.11	29.84	-3.39	8.0	1.66	13.60	0.00		
October	2.62	26.16	-15.83	15.8	2.45	11.08	0.00		
November	-7.05	10.81	-27.96	5.0	1.92	10.83	0.00		
December	-14.74	5.57	-32.29	5.4	1.43	8.06	0.00		
2013									
January	-10.52	6.00	-28.47	0.8	2.28	11.08	0.00		
February	-6.58	6.66	-19.75	1.6	1.75	11.08	0.00		
March	-7.86	14.22	-24.88	4.6	2.16	12.09	0.00		
April	2.35	24.00	-12.16	17.0	2.68	10.07	0.00		
May	12.88	29.49	-9.61	61.2	2.41	10.07	0.00		
June	15.62	30.37	2.18	117.6	2.08	10.07	0.00		
July	17.94	34.28	3.38	48.2	1.80	7.55	0.00		
August	18.29	33.31	3.14	8.2	1.43	6.80	0.00		

Table 2.6. Meteorological conditions at Mattheis Ranch.

Numbers are means.

	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
Micro Site							
Flat	20.86 ^a	21.35 ^a	19.63 ^a	13.10	3.51 ^b	-0.02 ^b	-0.37 ^b
Mound	20.20 ^a	20.83 ^a	19.21 ^ª	12.76	3.36 ^b	-0.05 ^b	-0.36 ^b
Pit	18.26 ^b	19.52 ^b	17.86 ^b	12.06	4.27 ^a	0.80 ^a	0.31 ^a
Amendment							
Blanket	18.76 ^b	19.62 ^b	18.38	12.40	4.04 ^{ab}	0.42 ^{ab}	-0.03
Control	20.68 ^a	21.12 ^{ab}	19.07	12.58	3.27 ^b	0.00 ^c	-0.33
Hay	19.35 ^{ab}	20.32 ^{ab}	18.78	12.83	4.14 ^a	0.45 ^a	-0.01
Hydrogel	19.85 ^{ab}	20.82 ^{ab}	19.07	12.99	3.62 ^{ab}	0.10 ^{bc}	-0.31
Manure	20.90 ^a	21.50 ^a	19.68	12.96	3.46 ^{ab}	0.11 ^{bc}	-0.17
Straw	19.09 ^{ab}	20.01 ^{ab}	18.43	12.07	3.76 ^{ab}	0.38 ^{ab}	0.01
P value							
Micro Site	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.14	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Amendment	0.01	0.01	0.35	0.78	0.02	< 0.01	0.06
Micro Site *	0.98	0.98	0.99	0.96	0.83	0.66	0.85
Amendment							

Table 2.7. Mean near surface soil temperature (°C) at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012.

Means with the same letters in each column, for each of micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

	January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July	August
Micro Site								
Flat	-0.24 ^b	0.05 ^b	0.23 ^b	1.28	14.70 ^a	16.90 ^a	19.64 ^a	18.34 ^a
Mound	-0.20 ^b	0.09 ^b	0.25 ^b	1.24	13.99 ^a	16.85 ^a	19.61 ^a	18.36 ^a
Pit	0.23 ^a	0.36 ^a	0.50 ^a	1.07	12.04 ^b	15.36 ^b	18.28 ^b	17.13 ^b
Amendment								
Blanket	-0.03	0.20	0.35	1.13	12.17 ^b	15.84	18.54	17.69
Control	-0.21	0.05	0.24	1.12	14.39 ^a	16.44	19.21	18.02
Hay	0.03	0.26	0.39	1.28	13.61 ^{ab}	16.54	19.25	18.04
Hydrogel	-0.21	0.05	0.24	1.23	14.07 ^{ab}	16.50	19.23	18.08
Manure	-0.04	0.18	0.33	1.31	14.29 ^a	16.73	19.70	17.87
Straw	0.03	0.25	0.39	1.09	12.95 ^{ab}	16.17	18.82	17.83
P value								
Micro Site	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.48	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01
Amendment	0.18	0.32	0.54	0.94	0.01	0.16	0.59	0.97
Micro Site *	0.86	0.79	0.80	0.88	0.91	0.81	0.73	0.84
Amendment								

Table 2.8. Mean near surface soil temperature (°C) at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, for each of micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different. In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.
	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
Micro Site							
Flat	19.88 ^a	21.29 ^a	19.43 ^a	13.37	4.08	0.84 ^b	0.56 ^b
Mound	19.48 ^{ab}	20.85 ^{ab}	19.04 ^a	13.07	3.55	0.94 ^b	0.62 ^b
Pit	18.91 ^b	20.41 ^b	18.63 ^b	13.07	4.12	1.32 ^a	0.99 ^a
Amendment							
Blanket	18.68 ^b	19.88 ^c	18.53 ^b	13.08	3.72	1.13 ^{ab}	0.68
Control	20.06 ^a	21.48 ^a	19.25 ^{ab}	13.32	4.23	0.83 ^{ab}	0.65
Hay	19.24 ^{ab}	20.61 ^{bc}	19.04 ^{ab}	13.05	4.14	1.29 ^a	0.86
Hydrogel	19.26 ^{ab}	21.08 ^{ab}	18.93 ^{ab}	13.17	3.27	0.70 ^b	0.52
Manure	20.16 ^a	21.68 ^a	19.59 ^a	13.48	3.59	0.90 ^{ab}	0.69
Straw	19.14 ^{ab}	20.40 ^{bc}	18.87 ^{ab}	12.93	4.54	1.29 ^a	0.89
P value							
Micro Site	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.33	0.41	< 0.01	< 0.01
Amendment	0.01	< 0.01	0.01	0.58	0.43	0.01	0.18
Micro Site *	0.64	0.66	0.70	0.41	0.65	0.55	0.40
Amendment							

Table 2.9. Mean near surface soil temperature (°C) at Elk Island National Park in 2012.

Means with the same letters in each column, for each of micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different. In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

	January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July	August
Micro Site								
Flat	0.51 ^b	0.49 ^b	0.47 ^b	1.00	13.64	16.53 ^a	18.31	17.27
Mound	0.58 ^b	0.57 ^b	0.53 ^b	0.99	12.47	16.31 ^{ab}	17.54	16.90
Pit	0.82 ^a	0.74 ^a	0.69 ^a	0.94	12.17	15.74 ^b	17.65	16.87
Amendment								
Blanket	0.59	0.59 ^{ab}	0.58 ^{ab}	0.96	12.43	16.17	17.20	16.99
Control	0.54	0.50 ^{ab}	0.48 ^{ab}	0.86	11.55	16.91	18.08	17.12
Hay	0.77	0.72 ^{ab}	0.65 ^{ab}	0.97	13.25	16.16	18.22	17.03
Hydrogel	0.45	0.45 ^b	0.44 ^b	0.75	12.58	16.10	18.01	16.99
Manure	0.63	0.56 ^{ab}	0.53 ^{ab}	1.18	13.97	15.99	17.70	16.77
Straw	0.80	0.75 ^a	0.69 ^a	1.10	12.57	15.89	17.77	17.09
P value								
Micro Site	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.83	0.06	0.04	0.18	0.38
Amendment	0.08	0.02	0.01	0.17	0.06	0.26	0.61	0.98
Micro Site *	0.28	0.20	0.07	0.88	0.55	0.11	0.71	0.96
Amendment								

Table 2.10. Mean near surface soil temperature (°C) at Elk Island National Park in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, for each of micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

Factor		2	2013	
Factor	May	June	July	August
Micro Site				
Flat	14.79 ^a	17.73	20.98 ^a	20.20 ^a
Mound	14.41 ^a	17.63	20.68 ^a	20.04 ^a
Pit	13.26 ^b	16.26	19.28 ^b	18.74 ^b
Amendment				
Blanket	13.78 ^c	17.01	20.63 ^a	19.59 ^{ab}
Control	14.73 ^{ab}	17.77	20.77 ^a	20.08 ^a
Нау	14.16 ^{bc}	17.29	20.28 ^a	19.59 ^{ab}
Hydrogel	14.80 ^a	17.86	20.63 ^a	19.98 ^a
Manure	14.92 ^a	17.85	20.70 ^a	19.92 ^a
Straw	12.28 ^d	15.42	18.79 ^b	18.67 ^b
P value				
Micro Site	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Amendment	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01
Micro Site *	0.13	0.08	0.07	0.08
Amendment				

Table 2.11. Mean near surface soil temperature (°C) at Mattheis Ranch in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, for each of micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.



Figure 2.1. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Devonian Botanic Garden throughout the study period. Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.



Figure 2.2. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Elk Island National Park throughout the study period. Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-25) of the year.



Figure 2.3. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature in all treatments at Mattheis Ranch throughout the study period.

Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-36) of the year.



Figure 2.4. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (6-10), then weeks (26-42) of the year.



Figure 2.5. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012-2013 winter season. Numbers above years refer to months (10-12, 1-4), then weeks (43-53, 1-16) of the year.



Figure 2.6. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (4-8), then weeks (17-35) of the year.



Figure 2.7. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island National Park in 2012 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (6-10), then weeks (25-42) of the year.



Figure 2.8. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island National Park in 2012-2013 winter season. Numbers above years refer to months (10-12, 1-4), then weeks (43-53, 1-16) of the year.



Figure 2.9. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Elk Island National Park in 2013 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (4-6), then weeks (17-25) of the year.



Figure 2.10. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for micro sites at Mattheis Ranch 2013 growing season.

Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-35) of the year.



Figure 2.11. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (6-10), then weeks (26-42) of the year.



Figure 2.12. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012-2013 winter season. Numbers above years refer to months (10-12, 1-4), then weeks (43-53, 1-16) of the year.



Figure 2.13. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (4-8), then weeks (17-35) of the year.



Figure 2.14. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island National Park in 2012 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (6-10), then weeks (25-42) of the year.



Figure 2.15. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island National Park in 2012-2013 winter season. Numbers above years refer to months (10-12, 1-4), then weeks (43-53, 1-16) of the year.



Figure 2.16. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Elk Island National Park in 2013 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (4-6), then weeks (17-25) of the year.



Figure 2.17. Mean weekly near surface soil temperature for amendments at Mattheis Ranch 2013 growing season. Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-35) of the year.

III. MICRO SITE AND AMENDMENT EFFECTS ON NEAR SURFACE SOIL VOLUMETRIC WATER CONTENT

1. INTRODUCTION

Micro sites and amendments can be used in land reclamation to mitigate the harsh conditions that have been created with various types of disturbances. Most anthropogenic disturbances, and even natural disturbances, can reduce organic matter content of the soil surface, reducing soil water holding capacity, and other hydrologic properties of the soil such as infiltration, percolation and soil water content. Many severely disturbed areas have exposed soil surfaces leading to high erosion of soil from them. The conditions of the soil created by the severe disturbances can in turn lead to unfavourable conditions for revegetation and for plant community development.

Topographic differences in the landscape, even at the micro scale, can result in soil water content differences. Diversity of soil micro topography can significantly affect uptake of soil water in plant seedling establishment (Harper et al. 1965). Soil water content can in turn have an effect on seed germination and seedling longevity (Oberbauer and Miller 1982). Significant differences in soil water content can be found in micro site such as pit bottoms and mound tops (Clinton and Baker 2000), with soil water was generally higher in pits than in mounds (Beatty 1984, Clinton and Baker 2000). As pits provide greater available soil water in summer, more species established in pits (Beatty 1984).

Applications of amendments can modify soil properties that in turn will modify soil water. Mulch can help to conserve soil water (Chakraborty et al. 2008, Balwinder-Singh et al. 2011). Mulch can affect soil surface to atmosphere energy and water fluxes. By affecting the mass transfer of water vapour, mulch can make the beneficial effects of a rainfall event last longer. In northern great plain grasslands, a matted layer of dead grass is important in maintaining a cool, humid environment (Ripley and Redman 1976). In the cool temperate prairies high amounts of litter can improve soil water retention and could be an effective drought management strategy (Willms et al. 1986, Naeth et al. 1991, Deustch et al. 2010). Litter effectiveness is reduced when soil water is not available or in good supply from precipitation (Willms et al. 1993). The use of hydrogels, synthetic acrylic polyacrylamides with a salt base, may enhance soil water retention capacity and plant available soil water. This will assist plant germination and establishment, especially in arid environments (Akhter et al. 2004).

A combination of micro sites and amendments can be useful to employ in land reclamation. In harsh climates, in particular, such as dry grassland and northern tundra types, even small amounts of increased soil water can have a significant and positive effect on seed germination and on seedling establishment and survival. Since a rapid establishment of cover in these reclamation scenarios is important and necessary micro sites and amendments may facilitate successful revegetation.

2. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES

3.1 Objectives

The objectives of this research were to determine whether micro topography and amendments affected near surface soil water content. Specific research objectives were as follows.

- To quantify effects of micro topography (flat, pit and mound) on near surface soil volumetric water content.
- To quantify effects of amendments (control, hydrogel, manure, blanket, straw and grass) on near surface soil volumetric water content.
- To quantify interactions among micro topography and amendments on near surface soil volumetric water content.
- To quantify effects of mound aspects on near surface soil volumetric water content.

3.2 Hypotheses

For near soil surface water content, there are several major influencing environmental factors. Some of these environmental factors are soil background water content, wind presence and intensity and sun light presence and intensity. Soil surface temperature can also affect near surface soil volumetric water content due to higher surface soil temperatures which will lead to higher evaporation rates.

Pits are expected to have higher near surface soil volumetric water content than that found in mounds because of lower wind and less sunlight in pits than in mounds. Erosion control blankets and grass and straw amendments can increase near surface soil surface water content. This is due to the shade provided by these amendments since they cover the soil and reduce sunlight and heat. Hydrogel can increase near surface soil surface water content by increasing near surface soil water holding capacity. Manure as an amendment can increase near surface soil volumetric water content because of the high organic carbon contents that are found in manure.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Research Sites

Multiple research locations were utilized to determine the effect of local environmental conditions on micro sites. The Mattheis Ranch site (hereafter called Mattheis) was in grassland and the other two sites, Elk Island National Park (hereafter called Elk Island) and the Devonian Botanic Garden (hereafter called Devonian), were in the parkland of Alberta. These areas represent those requiring revegetation from multiple disturbances, such as overgrazing, oil and gas exploration and development and mining.

3.1.1. Mattheis Ranch

The Mattheis Ranch study site is located near Brooks, Alberta, 430 km south of Edmonton, Alberta, in the Dry Mixedgrass Natural Subregion. Average elevation is 800 m above sea level (575 to 1100 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Soils are mainly Brown Chernozems. Native vegetation is dominated by low growing, drought tolerant, mixed grass communities including *Bouteloua gracilis* (Willd. ex Kunth) Lag. ex Griffiths (blue grama grass) and *Hesperostipa comata* (Trin. & Rupr.) Barkworth (needle and thread grass), *Koeleria macrantha* Schult (june grass) (Ledeb.) Schultes and *Pascopyrum smithii* (Rydb.) Á. Löve (western wheat grass) with numerous forbs. According to data from the closest weather station, at Brooks (50°33'00.000" N, 111°51'00.000" W), maximum air temperature was 40 °C, and averaged 12.4 °C during the growing season (April to October) (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 347.6 mm.

The study site is in the southern portion of the W10 paddock, an old pivot irrigation area. The land was farmed for many years then seeded with *Bromus inermis* Leyss. (smooth brome grass) to provide a forage cover when farming ceased. Native grassland species have since established naturally at the site. The area was recently characterized as having 60 % plant cover and 40 % bare ground. Soil texture is loamy sand.

3.1.2. Elk Island National Park

Elk Island National Park is located approximately 45 km east of Edmonton on Highway 16, in the Dry Mixed Wood Natural Subregion. Average elevation is 600 m (225 to 1225 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Upland soils are mainly Orthic Gray Luvisols and Dark Gray Luvisols. Vegetation is characterized by forests of *Populus tremuloides* Michx. (trembling aspen) and *Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss (white spruce). Common herbaceous vegetation includes

Stipa spartea Hitchc. (porcupine grass), *Koeleria macrantha* and *Elymus trachycaulus* (Link) Gould ex Shinners (slender wheat grass). According to data from the closest weather station at Elk Island National Park Point (53°53'00.000" N, 111°04'00.000" W), average air temperature in the growing season (April to October) was 10.4 °C and average maximum air temperature was 38.9 °C (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 482.5 mm.

The site is located in the northern portion of the park at NW-13-54-20-W4M. It is 13.9 km from the park entrance at Highway 16 and positioned approximately 300 m east of the parkway, directly across from the golf course equipment shop. The entire site encompasses approximately 480 m². Trees border the east, west and south sides of the site and an open meadow is located north of the site.

The research site was a historical landfill created in the 1930s and decommissioned in the early 1970s. Refuse was initially covered with soil and untouched until summer 1997 when Park staff reclaimed landfills that had some surface dumping and refuse buried beneath a shallow layer of topsoil. The landfill was decommissioned in August 1997. The site was denuded of vegetation for an MSc research project by cutting and herbicide (Van Bostelen 2003). The landfilled material was removed and a heavy equipment operator used the bucket on the front end loader to contour the sub soil to predisturbance levels. Topsoil was not replaced and compaction resulted from the use of heavy equipment. When the landfilled sites were cleaned out, soil testing was done by O'Connor Associates to ensure there were no contaminants in the landfills. All of the analyses indicated the sites met the required government criteria (Van Bostelen 2003).

3.1.3. Devonian Botanic Garden

The Devonian Botanic Garden site is 42.3 km southwest of Edmonton, Alberta, in the Central Parkland Subregion. Average elevation of the Central Parkland Natural Subregion is 750 m (500 to 1250 m) (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Soils are mainly Black Chernozems with some Dark Gray Chernozems and significant occurrences of Solonetzic soils. Vegetation is characterized by forest interspersed with prairie associated with hummocky till or eolian materials. Common vegetation includes *Corylus cornuta* Marsh (beaked hazelnut), *Cornus canadensis* L. (bunch berry), *Maianthemum canadense* L. (wild lily of the valley) and *Aralia nudicaulis* L. (wild sarsaparilla). According to data from the closest weather station at Edmonton Woodbend (53°25' N, 113°45' W), maximum air temperature was 35.5 °C in the growing season (April to October) with averages of 10.7 °C (Environment Canada 2010). Average annual precipitation is 508.0 mm.

The site is an abandoned well site of Imperial Oil Ltd. The oil well started production in 1947 and was closed in 1993 according to official records. Before industrial development, the Devonian Botanic Garden Orchid Club used the site to grow plants. In 2012 field observation showed organic matter had been added with tillage. The site is surrounded by forest and wetlands and was likely covered by forest before well site establishment and development.

3.2. Experimental Design And Site Establishment

The experiment was a completely randomized design at each of the research sites. Three micro topographic treatments consisted of mounds, pits and flat land. These treatments were assessed in combination with four micro site amendments proven successful in various reclamation treatments in other sites (Naeth various) and an unamended control. The amendments were erosion control blankets, weed free straw, fresh grass debris or hay, manure mix and hydrogel. The design is 3 micro topography treatments x 6 amendments x 5 replicates = 90 plots per site.

All vegetation was removed from each of the research sites prior to establishment of the research treatments, using glyphosate at a rate of 8 L/ha applied by a tractor pulled crop sprayer at Mattheis in mid May and a backpack sprayer at Elk Island and Devonian in late May. Soil was rototilled to a depth of 15 cm; 10 days after herbicide application at Mattheis and 7 days after herbicide application at Elk Island and Devonian.

Plant species selected for the study were native components of the plant community of the area. Grass species were *Hesperostipa comata*, *Elymus trachycaulus*, *Koeleria macrantha*, *Bromus ciliatus* L. (fringed brome grass) and *Bouteloua gracilis* Lag. ex Griffiths (blue grama grass). Forb species were *Linum lewisii* Pursch (wild blue flax), *Geum triflorum* Pursch (prairie smoke), and *Astragalus canadensis* L. (Canada milk vetch).

Each site was seeded at least two weeks after herbicide application, by hand broadcasting the mix at a rate of 350 pure live seed m⁻². This rate was based on previous research by Dr Naeth and her research team. Individual plant species were each included in the mix at an equal rate. The 2 m x 2 m plot was divided into a center 1 m x 1 m plot and a surrounding buffer zone. The center plot was seeded by hand with 50 seeds, counted individually for each plot. The buffer zone was seeded at 50 seeds per m² based on weight of the number of seeds. Seeding was completed; June 22 and 23 at Elk Island, June 28 at Devonian and June 8 at Mattheis in 2012.

To avoid the impacts of from herbivores, all research sites were fenced. Research areas were fenced with a standard four strand electric and barb wire fence at Mattheis, and with game

fence at Elk Island and Devonian. The Devonian and Elk Island game fences were 2.4 m high with 12 gauge wire with $0.15 \text{ m} \times 0.10 \text{ m}$ cells.

3.3. Soil Micro Topography And Amendment Treatments

Treatment plots were randomly distributed at each of the study sites. Plots were 2 m x 2 m at Mattheis and Elk Island. Due to the smaller area available for research at Devonian, plots were smaller, at $1.5 \text{ m} \times 1.5 \text{ m}$.

Pits, approximately 10 cm deep and 25 cm wide, were created by digging a hole in the ground with a shovel in the center of each plot. The mounds were formed in the center of each of the research plots using the soil extracted from the depression and buffer areas outside of the plots, and molded with a flexible pipe. The mounds were round in shape, and were approximately 20 cm in height, with a 40 cm base width in the center of each of plot. Flat micro topography treatments served as the control to mounds and to the depressions.

Erosion control blankets were Nilex SC150BN made with coconut and straw. They were anchored with industrial grade staples and spread over the entire plot after seeding was completed. Manure mix was applied at a rate of 39 Mg ha⁻¹ and incorporated into the soil. One year old wheat straw was applied as a cover at a low rate of 0.5 kg m⁻² at Mattheis. At Elk Island and Devonian straw was applied at 0.25 kg m⁻² after deciding that 0.5 kg m⁻² seemed too high for the area and could potentially hamper seedling emergence. Native fresh grass, consisting of grass and forb leaves and stems and plant litter, was cut by hand and harvested two days later from adjacent areas at Mattheis. It was applied on the surface. Certified weed free hay was applied at Elk Island and Devonian. Hydrogel (Soil Moist), a synthetic acrylic polyacrylamide with a potassium salt base, was mixed with water and applied according to manufacturer's instructions (337.5 kg ha⁻¹⁾ to increase plant available soil water.

3.4. Research Site Instrumentation

The three research sites were each instrumented for ongoing documentation of environmental conditions. Near surface soil volumetric water content, electrical conductivity and temperature were measured with 5TE soil water sensors (Decagon Devices, United States) and Em50 digital/analog data loggers (Decagon Devices, United States). Soil sensors were installed after the manure mix and hydrogel were incorporated into the soil and before seeding and placement of covers of straw, grass and hay. A 4 to 5 cm deep clear cut was dug at the sensor installation spot. The sensor cable was buried 4 to 5 cm deep and length varied according to the sensor

installation spot to data logger. Sensors were installed horizontally as shown in the appendix at a 2 to 3 cm depth by positioning them into the soil in the trenches. Cables of sensors were anchored with staples to keep them from moving. The positions of the sensors were in the center of the plot for flat and pit micro sites and in each of the northern, eastern, southern and western parts of the mound for mound micro sites. Positions of sensors were marked with coloured tape, with different colours for different directions (pink for north, orange for east, green for south, yellow for west). After installation, soil sensors were connected to data loggers.

Data for near surface soil temperature, electrical conductivity and volumetric water content were recorded in 30 minute intervals for each sensor for the duration of the study. The 5TE sensor measures soil volumetric water content by measuring soil dielectric permittivity, measures soil temperature by a thermistor and measures soil electrical conductivity by measuring the resistance between two electrodes. Data loggers were downloaded every two months before winter in 2012 and each month from May through October in 2013. Data from the winter period were downloaded in spring 2013 and 2014. Data loggers ran relatively well but there were minor amounts of missed data due to the malfunction of individual sensors. These missing data did not affect results and their interpretation.

One weather station (T HOBO U30-NRC Weather Station by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532) was installed for each site, at Mattheis on June 17 2012, Elk Island on June 22 2012 and Devonian on June 26 2012. Wind was measured by wind speed smart sensors (S-WSA-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532) and wind direction smart sensors (S-WDA-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532). Precipitation was measured by rain gauge smart sensors (S-RGA-M002 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532). Air temperature and relative humidity were measured by temperature/RH smart sensors (S-THB-M00X by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532). Light level was measured by silicon pyranometer smart sensors (S-LIB-M003 by Onset Computer Corporation, 470 MacArthur Blvd., Bourne, MA 02532).

3.5. Soil Sampling And Analyses

One soil sample for general site characterization from three randomly selected plots per microsite-amendment treatment was collected after plot preparation and before seeding. Samples were taken from a corner of the plot to a depth of 10 cm. Samples were only taken in amendment treatments at Mattheis Ranch.

Samples were sent to a commercial laboratory for determination of soil properties, which are presented in Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3. Particle size distribution was measured by hydrometer method (Carter and Gregorich 2008). Organic and inorganic carbon were measured by gravimetric loss of CO₂ (Loeppert and Suarez 1996). Total carbon and total nitrogen were measured by combustion with a Carbo-Erba NA 1500 (Nelson and Sommers 1996). Electrical conductivity was measured by conductivity meter and pH was measured by pH meter; both in a saturated paste (Carter and Gregorich 2008). Saturation percent was by calculation in saturated paste (Carter and Gregorich 2008).

3.6. Statistical Analyses

All of the statistical analyses were conducted using two way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with R software (R Development Core Team 2012). The Tukey's post hoc pairwise comparison test was used following all significant main effects. The Shapiro Wilks test was used for testing normality of distribution of all of the data. Homogeneity of variance of the data was tested with the Bartlett's test.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Soil Properties

Devonian and Elk Island surface soils were sandy loam in texture (Tables 3.1, 3.2) and Mattheis surface soil was sand in texture (Table 3.3). Soil pH was near neutral at all three of the research sites, lowest at Mattheis. Total nitrogen was highest at Elk Island and lowest at Mattheis, with Devonian similar to Elk Island. According to the soil quality criteria for reclamation (Alberta Soils Advisory Committee 1987), the surface soils were rated good at all three sites for pH, electrical conductivity, calcium carbonate equivalent and saturation %. Organic carbon content was rated good at Elk Island and Devonian and fair at Mattheis. Thus soils posed no problems for reclamation and or for revegetation.

Amending the surface soil with manure increased near surface soil electrical conductivity at all sites (Tables 3.1, 3.2, 3.3), but it was still rated good by surface soil reclamation criteria. Manure amendment increased near surface soil total organic carbon and total nitrogen at Mattheis, increased total organic carbon at Devonian, and slightly reduced both total carbon and total nitrogen at Elk Island. Amending with straw increased total organic carbon and total nitrogen at Devonian and decreased it at Elk Island. Near surface soil norganic carbon at Elk Island was twice as high as at the other sites.

4.2. Site Meteorological Conditions

Meteorological conditions at the three sites were similar with 2012 being warmer than 2013 (Tables 3.4, 3.5, 3.6). Devonian had more precipitation in 2013 than in 2012 while Elk Island had more in 2012. Mattheis had similar precipitation in both 2012 and 2013. Values for precipitation and air temperature were similar to long term climate normals for the regions (Government of Canada 2015).

The precipitation and air temperature data showed the differences between parkland (Devonian and Elk Island) and grassland (Mattheis) ecosystems. Precipitation was lower in the parkland relative to the forests. Wind was much stronger in the grassland than the parkland. Air temperature was similar among the three sites throughout the whole year.

4.3. General Treatment Trends For Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content

Near surface soil volumetric water content patterns for treatments at Devonian and Elk Island were generally similar from an overview perspective for the duration of the study (Figures 3.1, 3.2). Soil water content patterns could be generally divided into three periods, spring to fall, winter and transition periods. At Mattheis, with fewer data points, the pattern was still similar to that of the other two sites (Figure 3.3) from May to August.

The spring to fall period was the most dynamic. It generally occurred from mid May to the end of September. During this period, soil water content in each treatment rose and fell with the greatest frequencies and magnitude throughout the whole year, clearly following precipitation events. The differences between treatments were also highest during this growing season time.

The winter period generally started at the end of October and finished at the end of April and it was the most inactive period of the year. Each treatment at each of the three sites showed a nearly constant soil water content throughout the study. The differences among treatments were the smallest during this time.

The transition period occurred between the spring to fall and winter periods. It was the shortest period but had dynamic soil water content changes, particularly in spring. This is expected as it is often the time of greatest rainfall in spring and would have been associated with the time of spring snow melt.

There was a small difference in soil water between grassland (Mattheis) and parkland areas (Devonian and Elk Island). Grassland had much lower soil water content due to lower annual rain fall, higher evaporation and higher light penetration (Coupland 1979).

The more dramatic differences in soil water content with pits and mounds in other treatments is likely related to the larger size of pits and mounds in other studies. In this study, sensors were very close to the soil surface and hence may have been more susceptible to evaporation and other drying effects.

4.4. Micro Topography Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content

Near surface soil volumetric water content response to micro site treatments was similar at all three sites, with few significant effects (Tables 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11). Soil water content was similar at Devonian and Elk Island and slightly lower at Mattheis. Although the treatment effects were sometimes statistically significant, the range of values was unlikely to have any practical significant effect on vegetation, except perhaps at the time of seed germination. Small treatment responses are more visibly obvious in Figures 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6.

When treatment effects were significant, soil water content was mostly higher in pit treatments than in flats and mounds. This is expected due to the protective topographic lows of the pits where near surface soil temperatures were slightly lower than in the mounds and flats and less evaporation would take place.

Near surface soil water was likely more influenced by rainfall than micro sites. Although soil water content capacity was expected to be affected by micro sites due to their different exposure intensities to evaporation, the fact that the soil surface is very dynamic and responsive to evaporation and potentially evapotranspiration, may negate that expected effect.

4.5. Amendment Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content

Near surface soil volumetric water content response to amendment treatments was similar at all three sites with very few significant effects (Tables 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11). Soil water content was very similar at Devonian and Elk Island and slightly lower at Mattheis. Although the treatment effects were sometimes statistically significant the range of values was unlikely to have any practical significant effect on vegetation. Small treatment responses are more visibly obvious in Figures 3.7, 3.8 and 3.9.

Although there were a few significant differences among amendment treatments, there were no clear patterns of response of soil volumetric water content at the three study sites (Tables 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11) (Figures 3.7, 3.8, 3.9). Even though data were statistically significant, the treatment differences would have very little practical impact, except perhaps for small seed germination responses.

The lack of response to amendments for near surface volumetric water content was initially surprising since many studies show clear response of soil water content to amendments, particularly organic amendments. However, the soil surface is highly dynamic and the small amounts of amendments used may have minimized their effect on soil water. The research sites are also at a very early stage of reclamation, meaning they have significant amounts of bare ground, which are prone to evaporation.

4.6. Micro Topography And Amendment Interactions On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content

Unexpectedly there were few significant interactions between micro sites and amendments (Tables 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11). This may be due to the constant effects of micro sites over riding the lesser effects of the amendments and the fact that there were few effects of micro sites or amendments in general.

There was a significant interaction between micro site and amendment in June 2013 at Mattheis. Different amendments showed different trends among micro sites in near surface soil temperature. For straw, control and grass, near surface soil temperature was lowest in mounds. With erosion control blankets, mounds had highest soil water contents.

4.7. Mound Aspect Effects On Near Surface Soil Volumetric Water Content

Aspect of the mounds had no significant effect on soil water content (Data not shown). South facing aspects, as expected, were numerically highest, west was lower than south, followed by east and north was the lowest.

4.8. Applications To Reclamation

Although the near surface soil water content differences with micro sites were small numerically, they were likely sufficiently different to affect seed germination and seedling survival and establishment. Often very small differences in soil water content can affect germination, moving germination rates from optimum to sub optimum (Baskin and Baskin 2014). These values are expected to be very sensitive for native plant species (Naeth personal communication).

In a counterpart research project in this research program, Naeth et al. (2014) found that micro sites alone did not have as pronounced an effect on grass and forb seedling emergence and establishment as expected. The relative importance of soil water and near surface soil temperature at a specific site and in a given year relative to other site factors such as non native plant species and erosion potential played a key role in determining effect of micro sites on plant

response. The responses of native grasses and forbs to micro sites vary, supporting the need for a diversity of micro sites on a reclamation site to accommodate species specific requirements and annual variability in precipitation and near surface soil temperature.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Micro sites had very little effect on near surface soil water content. Soil water content was marginally higher in pits than in flat areas and mounds. Amendments had little significant effect on near surface soil water content. There were no clear patterns among the amendments in their effect on near surface soil water content.

Although the differences in soil water content among the treatments were small in magnitude, they may be large enough to affect sensitive species for seed germination and seedling survival. Generally, micro sites and amendments are good ways to create heterogeneous conditions to meet the potential soil water requirement of seeds from different species.

	Inorganic Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)	CaCO3 Equivale nt (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Electrical Conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	Saturation (%)	Total Nitrogen (%)	PH	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
Micro Site											
Flat	0.09	1.98	0.72	2.03	0.7	40.5	0.21	7.5	62	25	13
	(0.02)	(0.25)	(0.15)	(0.23)	(0.2)	(2.7)	(0.03)	(0.1)	(4)	(3)	(1)
Mound	0.06	2.07	0.50	2.10	0.5	41.6	0.22	7.6	60	26	14
	(0.01)	(0.25)	(0.10)	(0.24)	(0.1)	(0.8)	(0.02)	(0.0)	(5)	(3)	(1)
Pit	0.05	2.27	0.47	2.28	0.5	42.4	0.21	7.6	56	29	15
	(0.00)	(0.25)	(0.07)	(0.21)	(0.1)	(2.2)	(0.03)	(0.0)	(5)	(4)	(1)
Amendment											
Blanket	0.05	1.97	0.40	1.97	0.4	38.0	0.22	7.5	62	25	14
	(0.00)	(0.20)	(0.00)	(0.20)	(0.0)	(2.1)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(8)	(6)	(2)
Control	0.07 (0.02)	1.74 (0.32)	0.59 (0.19)	1.80 (0.31)	0.5 (0.0)	39.6 (2.4)	0.16 (0.02)	7.6 (0.0)	66 (7)	22 (6)	12 (2)
Grass	0.07	2.18	0.72	2.23	0.5	40.2	0.19	7.6	60	26	14
	(0.02)	(0.39)	(0.16)	(0.39)	(0.0)	(1.9)	(0.06)	(0.0)	(6)	(5)	(1)
Hydrogel	0.08	2.04	0.66	2.10	0.4	40.3	0.21	7.5	60	27	14
	(0.03)	(0.28)	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.0)	(2.6)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(7)	(6)	(2)
Manure	0.07	2.43	0.60	2.47	1.2	47.9	0.25	7.5	53	32	15
	(0.02)	(0.53)	(0.20)	(0.49)	(0.3)	(3.5)	(0.05)	(0.2)	(9)	(7)	(3)
Straw	0.05	2.27	0.40	2.27	0.4	42.9	0.28	7.6	56	29	15
	(0.00)	(0.23)	(0.00)	(0.23)	(0.0)	(1.4)	(0.02)	(0.0)	(5)	(3)	(2)
P Value											
Micro Site	0.115	0.684	0.250	0.724	0.709	0.807	0.728	0.505	0.939	0.952	0.678
Amendment	0.828	0.771	0.681	0.763	0.002	0.13	0.858	0.784	0.272	0.58	0.839

Table 3.1. Mean soil surface properties at Devonian Botanic Garden.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket

	Inorganic Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)	CaCO3 Equivalent (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Electrical Conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	Saturation (%)	Total Nitrogen (%)	PH	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
Micro Site											
Flat	0.15	2.63	1.24	2.78	0.9	59.5	0.28	7.3	54	28	18
	(0.03)	(0.32)	(0.26)	(0.33)	(0.1)	(3.3)	(0.04)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Mound	0.13	3.01	1.04	3.13	1.0	61.9	0.34	7.2	52	29	19
	(0.02)	(0.30)	(0.15)	(0.32)	(0.2)	(2.2)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(0)	(1)	(1)
Pit	0.14	3.60	1.17	3.72	1.1	63.0	0.35	7.1	55	29	16
	(0.03)	(0.42)	(0.28)	(0.38)	(0.2)	(3.6)	(0.04)	(0.1)	(1)	(2)	(2)
Amendment											
Blanket	0.12	2.95	0.95	3.03	0.8	65.4	0.35	7.2	53	28	19
	(0.04)	(0.21)	(0.31)	(0.27)	(0.1)	(3.0)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(2)
Control	0.09	3.77	0.76	3.83	0.8	63.6	0.39	7.1	54	32	14
	(0.02)	(0.61)	(0.18)	(0.56)	(0.0)	(5.7)	(0.06)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Grass	0.11	3.75	0.91	3.83	0.8	65.7	0.39	7.2	54	31	16
	(0.03)	(0.45)	(0.27)	(0.38)	(0.1)	(2.8)	(0.02)	(0.1)	(3)	(1)	(3)
Hydrogel	0.20	2.25	1.64	2.47 [´]	0.8	53.7	0.21	7.3	54	27	19
	(0.04)	(0.19)	(0.35)	(0.15)	(0.1)	(3.4)	(0.05)	(0.1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Manure	0.17	3.28	1.39	3.47	1.8	60.5	0.31	7.3	55	26	19
	(0.03)	(0.81)	(0.28)	(0.85)	(0.2)	(6.0)	(0.06)	(0.0)	(1)	(2)	(1)
Straw	0.15 (0.05)	2.48 (0.15)	1.24 (0.43)	2.63 (0.22)	1.0 (0.0)	59.8 (1.0)	0.30 (0.02)	7.1 (0.1)	53 (1)	27 (0)	20 (1)
P Value	· · /	· /	· · ·	· · /	× /	· · /	· · /	· · /	~ /	. ,	~ /
Micro Site	0.822	0.181	0.843	0.185	0.741	0.718	0.367	0.188	0.057	0.826	0.326
Amendment	0.432	0.183	0.402	0.237	< 0.001	0.346	0.089	0.471	0.875	0.021	0.178
/ anonument	0.402	0.100	0.402	0.201	· 0.001	0.040	0.000	0.771	0.075	0.021	5.175

Table 3.2. Mean soil surface properties at Elk Island National Park.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket

Inorganic Organic CaCO3 Total Electrical Total Saturation Clay Sand Silt Conductivity Nitrogen ΡH Carbon Carbon Equivalent Carbon (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (dS m⁻¹) (%) Amendment Blanket NA 0.05 0.4 1.07 6.2 0.4 1.09 40.4 0.17 90 8 3 Control (0.1) (0.00)(0.15)(0.00)(0.13)(0.0)(0.7) (0.02)(1) (1) (0) 5 0.05 1.05 0.4 1.03 0.5 41.7 0.12 6.4 84 11 Grass (0.00)(0.04)(0.00)(0.03) (0.1)(2.4)(0.00)(4) (3) (2) (0.1)0.05 1.25 0.4 1.27 0.7 42.4 0.15 6.7 87 10 3 Hydrogel (0) (0.00)(0.13)(0.00)(0.12) (0.1)(1.6)(0.01)(1) (1) (0.1)0.05 1.48 0.4 1.50 1.1 44 0.20 6.7 87 10 3 Manure (0.00)(0.01)(0.3) (1) (1) (0) (0.10)(0.00)(0.12)(0.5)(1.8)0.05 1.32 0.4 1.33 0.6 40.5 0.12 6.3 3 87 10 Straw (0) (0.00) (0.04)(0.00) (0.07) (0.2)(0.9) (0.02)(0.1) (1) (1) P Value 0.452 0.452 Amendment 0.071 0.044 0.312 0.533 0.003 0.166 0.53 0.574 0.448

Table 3.3. Mean soil surface properties at Mattheis Ranch.

Numbers are means, with standard error of the mean in brackets.

Blanket = erosion control blanket

	Air T	emperature	(°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Wind Speed (m / s)		
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min
2012							
June	16.82	27.70	3.83	0.20	0.26	2.27	0.00
July	18.16	33.68	4.69	144.4	0.13	2.27	0.00
August *	17.38	28.99	3.17	30.4	0.06	1.01	0.00
September	11.44	27.65	-1.13	21.6	0.22	2.52	0.00
October	0.80	20.25	-12.53	21.4	0.25	2.77	0.00
November	-7.92	10.00	-26.31	12.6	0.11	3.27	0.00
December	-15.62	2.05	-30.48	0.20	0.02	2.01	0.00
2013							
January	-10.06	10.27	-28.92	17.4	0.20	2.52	0.00
February	-4.79	10.17	-18.92	14.0	0.25	3.78	0.00
March	-6.80	11.90	-27.46	17.6	0.23	2.27	0.00
April	0.57	20.44	-21.92	18.6	0.49	3.02	0.00
May	13.10	31.66	-7.25	29.2	0.43	2.52	0.00
June	14.50	29.44	3.27	91.0	0.13	2.27	0.00
July	16.06	35.21	2.24	85.8	0.11	1.51	0.00
August	16.30	28.54	3.43	44.4	0.03	1.01	0.00
September	12.04	31.69	-6.11	3.8	0.09	2.27	0.00
October	4.02	19.10	-12.42	11.6	0.15	2.52	0.00
November	-7.70	10.74	-30.90	16.4	0.05	1.26	0.00

Table 3.4. Meteorological conditions at Devonian Botanic Garden.

Data were lost from August 8 to 28 2012.

Numbers are means.
	Air Temperature (°C)		Precipitation (mm)	Wind	Speed (m	/ s)	
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min
2012							
June	17.13	26.74	7.97	12.0	0.34	2.01	0.00
July	18.27	33.26	7.87	133.6	0.23	2.01	0.00
August	16.35	30.62	5.75	2.6	0.14	1.76	0.00
September	12.29	26.40	0.47	0.2	0.29	2.52	0.00
October	0.73	19.25	-16.20	15.8	0.47	3.02	0.00
November	-8.32	10.00	-21.92	16.4	0.21	2.52	0.00
December	-14.78	1.37	-28.86	0.0	0.12	2.52	0.00
2013					0.26		
January	-10.44	7.04	-30.48	22.8	0.34	2.77	0.00
February	-5.15	10.32	-17.60	10.6	0.41	3.02	0.00
March	-6.62	12.51	-19.89	10.2	0.51	3.27	0.00
April	0.10	17.84	-17.00	23.6	0.79	4.53	0.00
May	13.20	30.39	-11.04	30.0	0.62	4.78	0.00
June	14.11	28.30	4.79	63.0	0.23	2.27	0.00
July	15.61	32.61	3.35	15.6	0.18	2.27	0.00
August	16.46	28.72	6.41	2.6	0.06	1.51	0.00
September	12.65	30.42	-1.99	4.4	0.23	2.01	0.00
October	4.39	17.30	-11.54	13.4	0.29	3.02	0.00
November	-7.48	9.31	-29.19	16.8	0.14	1.76	0.00

Table 3.5. Meteorological conditions at Elk Island National Park.

Numbers are means.

	Air T	emperature	(°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Wind Speed (m / s)		
	Mean	Max	Min	Total	Mean	Max	Min
2012							
July	20.95	34.44	5.28	13.6	1.81	8.31	0.00
August	18.01	34.12	2.66	45.4	1.56	7.55	0.00
September	13.11	29.84	-3.39	8.0	1.66	13.60	0.00
October	2.62	26.16	-15.83	15.8	2.45	11.08	0.00
November	-7.05	10.81	-27.96	5.0	1.92	10.83	0.00
December	-14.74	5.57	-32.29	5.4	1.43	8.06	0.00
2013							
January	-10.52	6.00	-28.47	0.8	2.28	11.08	0.00
February	-6.58	6.66	-19.75	1.6	1.75	11.08	0.00
March	-7.86	14.22	-24.88	4.6	2.16	12.09	0.00
April	2.35	24.00	-12.16	17.0	2.68	10.07	0.00
May	12.88	29.49	-9.61	61.2	2.41	10.07	0.00
June	15.62	30.37	2.18	117.6	2.08	10.07	0.00
July	17.94	34.28	3.38	48.2	1.80	7.55	0.00
August	18.29	33.31	3.14	8.2	1.43	6.80	0.00

Table 3.6. Meteorological conditions at Mattheis Ranch.

Numbers are means.

	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
Micro Site							
Flat	0.20 ^a	0.24 ^a	0.23	0.20	0.19 ^{ab}	0.16 ^b	0.14 ^b
Mound	0.18 ^{ab}	0.22 ^{ab}	0.22	0.19	0.18 ^b	0.14 ^b	0.13 ^b
Pit	0.17 ^b	0.21 ^b	0.22	0.20	0.20 ^a	0.19 ^a	0.17 ^a
Amendment							
Blanket	0.19	0.24	0.23	0.20	0.20	0.18	0.16
Control	0.17	0.21	0.21	0.18	0.18	0.15	0.14
Нау	0.19	0.23	0.23	0.20	0.20	0.18	0.16
Hydrogel	0.20	0.22	0.21	0.19	0.18	0.15	0.13
Manure	0.18	0.22	0.23	0.20	0.20	0.17	0.16
Straw	0.17	0.23	0.22	0.20	0.19	0.17	0.15
P Value							
Micro Site	< 0.01	0.01	0.28	0.72	0.05	< 0.01	< 0.01
Amendment	0.22	0.11	0.28	0.40	0.32	0.03	0.08
Micro Site *	0.72	0.77	0.48	0.58	0.32	0.28	0.37
Amendment							

Table 3.7. Mean near surface soil volumetric water content (m^3 / m^3) at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2012.

Means with the same letters in each column, within micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August
Micro Site								
Flat	0.15 ^b	0.15 ^b	0.17 ^{ab}	0.23	0.19	0.22	0.19	0.19
Mound	0.14 ^b	0.14 ^b	0.16 ^b	0.22	0.18	0.21	0.17	0.16
Pit	0.17 ^a	0.18 ^a	0.19 ^a	0.23	0.20	0.22	0.19	0.23
Amendment								
Blanket	0.16	0.16	0.18	0.23	0.20	0.23	0.21 ^a	0.20
Control	0.14	0.15	0.16	0.22	0.18	0.21	0.17 ^{ab}	0.17
Hay	0.16	0.16	0.19	0.24	0.19	0.22	0.20 ^{ab}	0.21
Hydrogel	0.14	0.14	0.16	0.22	0.19	0.21	0.16 ^b	0.16
Manure	0.16	0.17	0.18	0.24	0.19	0.22	0.18 ^{ab}	0.17
Straw	0.15	0.15	0.17	0.22	0.19	0.21	0.18 ^{ab}	0.26
P Value								
Micro Site	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01	0.41	0.16	0.10	0.04	0.29
Amendment	0.18	0.22	0.38	0.57	0.36	0.16	0.01	0.58
Micro Site *	0.29	0.29	0.38	0.63	0.49	0.50	0.56	0.61
Amendment								

Table 3.8. Mean near surface soil volumetric water content (m^3 / m^3) at Devonian Botanic Garden in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, within micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different. In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
Micro Site							
Flat	0.20	0.25	0.28	0.22 ^b	0.18 ^b	0.21 ^b	0.20 ^b
Mound	0.20	0.26	0.28	0.22 ^b	0.18 ^b	0.20 ^b	0.20 ^b
Pit	0.19	0.26	0.30	0.24 ^a	0.20 ^a	0.25 ^a	0.23 ^a
Amendment							
Blanket	0.21 ^{ab}	0.27	0.30	0.24 ^a	0.20 ^a	0.22	0.20
Control	0.18 ^b	0.24	0.28	0.22 ^{ab}	0.18 ^{ab}	0.22	0.22
Hay	0.20 ^{ab}	0.27	0.30	0.23 ^{ab}	0.20 ^a	0.23	0.22
Hydrogel	0.23 ^a	0.26	0.28	0.23 ^{ab}	0.18 ^{ab}	0.21	0.21
Manure	0.19 ^b	0.25	0.29	0.21 ^b	0.16 ^b	0.21	0.20
Straw	0.19 ^b	0.25	0.28	0.22 ^{ab}	0.20 ^a	0.22	0.21
P Value							
Micro Site	0.55	0.83	0.15	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01
Amendment	0.01	0.33	0.58	0.01	0.01	0.60	0.67
Micro Site *	0.06	0.61	0.63	0.06	0.31	0.32	0.36
Amendment							

Table 3.9. Mean near surface soil volumetric water content (m^3 / m^3) at Elk Island National Park in 2012.

Means with the same letters in each column, within micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

	January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July	August
Micro Site								
Flat	0.20 ^b	0.22 ^{ab}	0.24 ^b	0.33 ^b	0.22	0.22 ^b	0.23 ^b	0.23 ^b
Mound	0.20 ^b	0.21 ^b	0.23 ^b	0.32 ^b	0.22	0.22 ^b	0.23 ^b	0.21 ^b
Pit	0.24 ^a	0.25 ^a	0.27 ^a	0.39 ^a	0.25	0.27 ^a	0.28 ^a	0.26 ^a
Amendment								
Blanket	0.20	0.22	0.24	0.32	0.24	0.25	0.26	0.24
Control	0.23	0.25	0.25	0.35	0.27	0.24	0.24	0.23
Hay	0.23	0.24	0.26	0.36	0.22	0.24	0.25	0.25
Hydrogel	0.21	0.23	0.24	0.34	0.23	0.23	0.25	0.23
Manure	0.21	0.23	0.24	0.38	0.21	0.22	0.24	0.23
Straw	0.21	0.22	0.24	0.34	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.23
P Value								
Micro Site	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.15	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Amendment	0.74	0.76	0.75	0.59	0.38	0.20	0.43	0.63
Micro Site *	0.53	0.44	0.32	0.21	0.06	0.49	0.14	0.39
Amendment								

Table 3.10. Mean near surface soil volumetric water content (m^3 / m^3) at Elk Island National Park in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, within micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different. In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.

Factor	2013							
Factor	May	June	July	August				
Micro Site								
Flat	0.16	0.17	0.13 ^{ab}	0.10 ^{ab}				
Mound	0.14	0.16	0.11 ^b	0.09 ^b				
Pit	0.16	0.17	0.14 ^a	0.11 ^a				
Amendment								
Blanket	0.16	0.17	0.12 ^{ab}	0.10				
Control	0.16	0.17	0.13 ^{ab}	0.11				
Hay	0.15	0.16	0.12 ^{ab}	0.09				
Hydrogel	0.15	0.17	0.12 ^{ab}	0.09				
Manure	0.13	0.15	0.10 ^b	0.08				
Straw	0.18	0.19	0.16 ^a	0.13				
P Value								
Micro Site	0.16	0.44	0.04	0.04				
Amendment	0.06	0.08	0.02	0.09				
Micro Site *	0.07	0.02	0.09	0.09				
Amendment								

Table 3.11. Mean near surface soil volumetric water content (m^3 / m^3) at Mattheis Ranch in 2013.

Means with the same letters in each column, within micro sites and amendments, are not significantly different.

In data sets with no letters, there are no significant differences.



Figure 3.1. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at Devonian Botanic Garden throughout the study period.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.



Figure 3.2. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at Elk Island National Park throughout the study period.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.

72



Figure 3.3. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content in all treatments at Mattheis Ranch throughout the study period. Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-35) of the year



Figure 3.4. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at Devonian Botanic Garden from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.



Figure 3.5. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at Elk Island National Park from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.

75



Figure 3.6. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for micro sites at the Mattheis Ranch from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-35) of the year.

76



Figure 3.7. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at Devonian Botanic Garden from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.



Figure 3.8. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at Elk Island National Park from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (6-12, 1-8), then weeks (26-53, 1-35) of the year.



Figure 3.9. Mean weekly near surface soil volumetric water content for amendments at the Mattheis Ranch from June 2012 to August 2013.

Numbers above years refer to months (5-8), then weeks (21-35) of the year.

79

IV. SUMMARY, APPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

1. RESEARCH SUMMARY

Micro sites had a significant effect on near surface soil temperature. Near surface soil temperatures in flat areas and mounds were generally lower than near surface soil temperatures in pits in winter and higher at other times of the year. Amendments had little significant effect on near surface soil temperature. The only clear pattern among the amendments used in the study was a slightly lower near surface soil temperature with erosion control blankets.

Micro sites had very little effect on near surface soil water content. Near surface soil water content was marginally higher in pits than in flat areas and mounds. Amendments had little significant effect on near surface soil water content, with no clear trends among the amendments in their effect on soil near surface soil water content.

Although the differences in surface soil temperature and water content among the treatments were small in magnitude, they may be large enough to affect sensitive species for seed germination and seedling survival. Generally, micro sites and amendments are good ways to create heterogeneous conditions to meet the potential near surface soil temperature and water content requirements of seeds from different species.

2. APPLICATIONS FOR RECLAMATION

After plant species specific near surface soil water and near surface soil temperature requirements are known, suitable micro sites and amendments can be constructed during reclamation to meet these requirements. When propagules of plant species are known to require higher near surface soil temperature for germination and for establishment, flat or mound micro sites can be constructed during reclamation to meet the requirement. Pit micro sites will likely be more suitable for plant species requiring lower near surface soil temperatures than will mounds or flat areas.

Even if species specific requirements for near surface soil conditions are not known, using a variety of micro sites and amendments on a reclamation site can provide the heterogeneity for a multitude of plant species that may be required or desired for revegetaiton. This heterogeneity can provide small differences in soil water and surface soil temperature, that are known to affect a variety of species.

3. STUDY LIMITATIONS

Research results are specific to the study areas and to the climatic conditions of the two study years. The study was not able to incorporate different amendment rates and micro site sizes due to financial constraints and logistics. Although there were few treatments for the rates and sizes chosen for this research, other rates and sizes may have had a more significant effect.

The aging of micro sites was not designed to be quantified in this study. Micro sites are subjected to wind and water erosion, which are site specific and climate specific. The shapes of micro sites are changing along the time of the research due to these factors. Future studies can plan for examining the aging of micro sites and the effects of the aging process on various micro site characteristics.

There are no clear definitions of roughness of micro site in the literature, which make measuring the changes of micro sites from wind and water erosion difficult.

Only surface soil effects were studied as this is where the majority of seed germination takes place. However, treatment effects may have been more profound at depth.

4. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Future studies can monitor soil infiltration and evaporation to further understand micro sites and amendment effects on near surface soil temperature and soil water.

Future studies can include dormancy factors in the experimental design. With dormancy of seeds broken, other factors that influence germination and establishment of seeds can be studied more clearly (Pavliscak et al. 2015).

Future studies can include seed sowing time in the experimental design. Seed sowing time plays an important role in restoration from seeds (Pavliscak et al. 2015).

Future studies can clearly define roughness of micro sites to assist future measuring of the changes of micro sites from wind and water erosion. To clearly define roughness, several questions need to be answered such as the purpose of roughness parameterization, the aspects of surface form, types (profile or array like) and the scale of roughness (Smith 2014).

V. REFERENCES

- Adams, B.W., L. Poulin-Klein, D. Moisey and R.L. McNeil. 2005. Rangeland plant communities and range health assessment guidelines for the dry mixedgrass natural subregion of Alberta. Publication T/040. Rangeland Management Branch, Public Lands Division, Alberta Sustainable Resource Development. Lethbridge, Alberta. 106 pp.
- Akhter, J., K. Mahmood, K.A. Malik, A. Mardan, M. Ahmad and M.M. Iqbal. 2004. Effects of hydrogel amendment on water storage of sandy loam and loam soils and seedling growth of barley, wheat and chickpea. Plant, Soil and Environment 50:463-469.
- Alberta Soils Advisory Committee. 1987. Soil quality criteria relative to disturbance and reclamation. Alberta Agriculture. Online at http://www1.agric. gov.ab.ca/\$department/ deptdocs.nsf/all/sag9469/\$FILE/sq_criteria_relative_to_disturbance_reclamation.pdf. Accessed January 30, 2013.
- Anderson, D. and L. Bliss. 1998. Association of plant distribution patterns and microenvironments on patterned ground in a polar desert, Devon Island NWT, Canada. Arctic and Alpine Research 30:97-107.
- Balwinder-Singh, P.L. Eberbach, E. Humphreys and S.S. Kukal. 2011. The effect of rice straw mulch on evapotranspiration, transpiration and soil evaporation of irrigated wheat in Punjab, India. Agricultural Water Management 98:1847-1855.
- Baskin, C.C. and J.M. Baskin. 2014. Seeds: ecology, biogeography, and evolution of dormancy and germination. Academic Press Ltd, Elsevier Science Ltd. 1586 pp.
- Battaglia, I.I., S.A. Foré and R.R. Sharitz. 2000. Seedling emergence, survival and size in relation to light and water availability in two bottomland hardwood species. Journal of Ecology 88:1041-1050.
- Beatty, S.W. 1984. Influence of microtopography and canopy species on spatial patterns of forest understory plants. Ecology 65:1406-1419.
- Biederman, L.A. and S.G. Whisenant. 2011. Using mounds to create microtopography alters plant community development early in restoration. Restoration Ecology 19:53-61.
- Breshears, D.D., J.W. Nyhan, C.E. Heil and B.P. Wilcox. 1998. Effects of woody plants on microclimate in a semiarid woodland: soil temperature and evaporation in canopy and intercanopy patches. International Journal of Plant Sciences 159:1010-1017.
- Bruland, G.L., and C.J. Richardson. 2005. Hydrologic, edaphic, and vegetative responses to microtopographic reestablishment in a restored wetland. Restoration Ecology 13:1-9.

- Burt, R. 2009. Soil survey field and laboratory methods manual. Soil Survey Investigations
 Report No. 5. Method 3.2.1.2.2. United States Department of Agriculture Natural
 Resources Conservation Service.
- Carlson B.A. and T.V. Callaghan. 1991. Positive plant interactions in tundra vegetation and the importance of shelter. Journal of Ecology 79:973-983.
- Carter M.R. and E.G. Gregorich. 2008. Soil sampling and methods of analysis. Canadian Society of Soil Science. Taylor and Francis Group. Boca Raton, Florida. 198 pp.
- Chakraborty, D., S. Nagaranjan, P. Aggarwal, V.K. Guptaa, R.K. Tomara, R.N. Garga, RN Sahooa, A. Sarkarc, U.K. Chopraa, K.S. Sundara Sarmaa and N. Kalraa. 2008. Effect of mulching on soil and plant water status, and the growth and yield of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) in a semi-arid environment. Agricultural Water Management 95:1323-1334.
- Chesson, P.L. 1985. Coexistence of competitors in spatially and temporally varying environments: a look at the combined effects of different sorts of variability. Theoretical Population Biology 28:263-287.
- Chesson, P. 2000. General theory of competitive coexistence in spatially varying environments. Theoretical Population Biology 58:211-237.
- Clinton, B.D. and C.R. Baker. 2000. Catastrophic windthrow in the southern Appalachians: characteristics of pits and mounds and initial vegetation responses. Forest Ecology and Management 126:51-60.
- Cohen Fernandez, A.C. 2012. Reclamation of a limestone quarry to a natural plant community. PhD Dissertation. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 216 pp.
- Coupland, R.T. (Editor). 1979. Grassland ecosystems of the world: analysis of grasslands and their uses. International Biological Program 18. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge United Kingdom. 401 pp.
- Desserud, P.A. 2011. Rough fescue (Festuca hallii) ecology and restoration in Central Alberta. PhD Dissertation. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 216 pp.
- Desserud P.A., C.C. Gates, B. Adams and R.D. Revel. 2010. Restoration of foothills rough fescue grassland following pipeline disturbance in southwestern Alberta. Journal of Environmental Management 91:2763-2770.
- Deutsch, E.S., E.W. Bork and W.D. Willms. 2010. Soil moisture and plant growth responses to litter and defoliation impacts in Parkland grasslands. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 135:1-9.

- Drozdowski, B.L., M.A. Naeth and S.R. Wilkinson. 2012. Evaluation of substrate and amendment materials for soil reclamation at a diamond mine in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92:77-88.
- Eldridge, D.J, M. Westoby and G. Holbrook. 1991. Soil surface characteristics, microtopography and proximity to mature shrubs: effects on survival of several cohorts of Atriplex vesicaria seedlings. Journal of Ecology 79:357-364.
- Elsinger, M.E. 2009. Reclamation status of plains rough fescue grasslands at Rumsey Block in Central Alberta, Canada after oil and gas well site and pipeline disturbances. MSc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 247 pp.
- Environment Canada. 2010. Canadian climate normals or averages 1971-2000. Fredericton, New Brunswick.
- Eskelinen, A. and R. Virtanen. 2005. Local and regional processes in low-productive mountain plant communities: the roles of seed and microsite limitation in relation to grazing. Oikos 110:360-368.
- Evans, R.A. and J.A. Young. 1972. Microsite requirements for establishment of annual rangeland weeds. Weed Science 20:350-356.
- Ewing, K. 2002. Mounding as a technique for restoration of prairie on a capped landfill in the Puget Sound Iowlands. Restoration Ecology 10:289-296.
- Foote, L. and N. Krogman. 2006. Wetlands in Canada's western boreal forest: agents of change. Forestry Chronicle 82:825-833.
- Forbes, B.C. and R.L. Jefferies. 1999. Revegetation of disturbed arctic sites: constraints and applications. Biological Conservation 88:15-24.
- Forbis, T.A., J. Larmore and E. Addis. 2004. Temporal patterns in seedling establishment on pocket gopher disturbances. Oecologia 138:112-121.
- Galatowitsch, S. 2008. Seedling establishment in restored ecosystems. In Leck, R.L., M.A. Parker and V.T. Simpson (Editors). Cambridge University Press. New York, New York. Pp. 352-370.
- Government of Canada. 2015. Canadian climate normal 1981-2010 station data. Online at http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html?stnID=1865&lang =e&StationName=Edmonton&SearchType=Contains&stnNameSubmit=go&dCode=1. Accessed February 21 2015.
- Harper, T.L., J.T. Williams and G.R. Sagar. 1965. The behavior of seeds in soil. I. The heterogeneity of soil surfaces and its role in determining the establishment of plants from seed. Journal of Ecology 53:273-286.

- Henderson, D.C. and M.A. Naeth. 2005. Multi-scale impacts of crested wheatgrass invasion in mixed-grass prairie. Biological Invasions 7:639-650.
- Holechek, J.L., R.D. Piper and C.H. Herbel. 2004. Range management: principles and practices (5th ed.). Prentice Hall. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. 607 pp.
- Hough-Snee, N., A.L. Long, L. Jeroue and K. Ewing. 2011. Mounding alters environmental filters that drive plant community development in a novel grassland. Ecological Engineering 37:1932-1936.
- Huenneke, L.F. and R.R. Sharitz. 1986. Microsite abundance and distrbiution of woody seedlings in a South Carolina cypress-tupelo swamp. American Midland Naturalist 115:328-335.
- Huttermann, A., M. Zommorodi and K. Reise. 1999. Addition of hydrogels to soil for prolonging the survival of Pinus halepensis seedlings subjected to drought. Soil and Tillage Research 50:295-304.
- Kidd, J.G. and L.J. Rossow. 1998. Pilot revegetation study at the Fox portal site, Ekati Diamond Mine, NWT, Canada. Annual Report to BHP Billiton Canada Inc. Prepared by: ABR, Inc. Fairbanks, Alaska. 42 pp.
- Kochy, M. and S.D. Wilson. 2005. Variation in nitrogen deposition and available soil nitrogen in a forest-grassland ecotone in Canada. Landscape Ecology 20:191-202.
- Kuntz, K.L. and D.W. Larson. 2006. Microtopographic control of vascular plant, bryophyte and lichen communities on cliff faces. Plant Ecology 185:239-253.
- Kuuluvainen, T. and P. Juntunen. 1998. Seedling establishment in relation to microhabitat variation in a windthrow gap in a boreal Pinus sylvestris forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 9:551-562.
- Kwiatkowski, B.L. 2007. Diamond mine reclamation in the NWT: substrates, soil amendments and native plant community development. MSc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 126 pp.
- Lauenroth, W.K., O.E. Sala, D.P. Coffin and T.B. Kirchner. 1994. The importance of soil-water in the recruitment of *Bouteloua gracilis* in the shortgrass steppe. Ecological Applications 4:741-749.
- Loeppert, R.H. and D.L. Suarez. 1996. Gravimetric method for loss of carbon dioxide. In: J.M. Bartels (Editor). Methods of soil analysis: part 3 chemical methods. (3rd ed.). American Society of Agronomy, Inc. and Soil Science Society of America. Book series no. 5. Madison, Wisconsin. Pp. 455-456.
- Lundholm, J.T. and D.W. Larson. 2003. Relationships between spatial environmental

heterogeneity and plant species diversity on a limestone pavement. Ecography 26:715-722.

- Mackenzie, D.D. and M.A. Naeth. 2010. The role of the forest soil propagule bank in assisted natural recovery after oil sands mining. Restoration Ecology 18:418-427.
- Maher E.L. and M.J. Germino. 2006. Microsite differentiation among conifer species during seedling establishment at alpine treeline. Ecoscience 13:334-341.
- Marteinsdottir, B., T.E. Thorhallsdottir and K. Svavarsdottir. 2013. An experimental test of the relationship between small scale topography and seedling establishment in primary succession. Plant Ecology 214:1007-1015.
- Maun, M.A. and I. Krajnyk. 1989. Stabilization of great lakes sand dunes effect of planting time, mulches and fertilizer on seedling establishment. Journal of Coastal Research 5:791-800.
- Mollard, F.P.O. and M.A. Naeth. 2014. Photoinhibition of germination in grass seed implications for prairie revegetation. Journal of Environmental Management 142:1-9.
- Mollard, F.P.O., M.A. Naeth and A. Cohen-Fernandez. 2014. Impacts of mulch on prairie seedling establishment: facilitative to inhibitory effects. Ecological Engineering 64:377-384.
- Naeth, M.A., A.W. Bailey, D.J. Pluth, D.S. Chanasyk and R.T. Hardin. 1991. Grazing impacts on litter and soil organic matter in mixed prairie and fescue grassland ecosystems of Alberta. Journal of Range Management 44:7-12.
- Naeth, M.A. and S.R. Wilkinson. 2010. Diamond mine reclamation in the NWT: substrates, soil amendments and native plant community development. Final Report Phase I for Diavik Mines Inc. Edmonton, Alberta. 38 pp.
- Naeth, M.A. and S.R. Wilkinson. 2011. Diamond mine reclamation in the NWT: substrates, soil amendments and native plant community development. Final Report Phase II for Diavik Diamond Mines Inc. Edmonton, Alberta. 45 pp.
- Naeth, M.A. and S.R. Wilkinson. 2014. Establishment of restoration trajectories for upland tundra communities on diamond mine wastes in the Canadian arctic. Restoration Ecology 22:534-543.
- Naeth, M.A., S.R. Wilkinson, A.C. Cohen-Fernández, L. Yao and F.P.O. Mollard. 2014. Microsites for improved grassland reclamation in Alberta. Annual Report for Rangelands Research Institute. Edmonton, Alberta. 35 pp.
- Natural Regions Committee. 2006. Natural regions and subregions of Alberta. Compiled by D.J. Downing and W.W. Pettapiece. Government of Alberta. Publication T/852. Edmonton, Alberta.

Nelson, D.W. and L.E. Sommers. 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In:

Methods of soil analysis, Part 2, A.L. Page (Editor). American Society of Agronomy. Madison, Wisconsin.

- Oberbauer, S. and P.C. Miller. 1982. Effect of water potential on seed germination. Ecography 5:218-220.
- Oomes, M.J.M and W.T.H. Elberse. 1976. Germination of six different grassland herbs in microsites with different water contents. Journal of Ecology 64:745:755
- Ostendorf, B. and J.F. Reynolds. 1998. A model of arctic tundra vegetation derived from topographic gradients. Landscape Ecology 13:187-201.
- Pärtel, M. and Helm A. 2007. Invasion of woody species into temperate grasslands: relationship with abiotic and biotic soil resource heterogeneity. Journal of Vegetation Science 18:63-70.
- Pavliscak, L.L., J.S. Fehmi and S.E. Smith. 2015. Assessing emergence of a long-lived monocarpic succulent in disturbed, arid environments: evaluating abiotic factors in effective agave restoration by seed. Arid Land Research and Management 29:98-109.
- Peterson, C.J., W.P. Carson, B.C. Mccarthy and S.T.A. Pickett. 1990. Microsite variation and soil dynamics within newly created treefall pits and mounds. Oikos 58:39-46.
- Price, G.D., D. Sültemeyer, B. Klughammer, M. Ludwig and M.R. Badger.1998. The functioning of the CO₂ concentrating mechanism in several cyanobacterial strains: a review of general physiological characteristics, genes, proteins and recent advances. Canadian Journal of Botany 76:973-1002.
- Questad, E.J. and B.L. Foster. 2008. Coexistence through spatio-temporal heterogeneity and species sorting in grassland plant communities. Ecology Letters 11:717-726.
- R Core Development Team. 2012. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Richardson, P.J., A.S. MacDougall and D.W. Larson. 2012. Fine-scale spatial heterogeneity and incoming seed diversity additively determine plant establishment. Journal of Ecology 100:939-949.
- Ripley, E.A. and Redman, R.E. 1976. Grassland. In: Vegetation and the atmosphere, 2: case studies. Monteith, J.L. (Editor), Academic Press. London, United Kingdom. Pp. 349-398.
- Roberts, E.H. 1988. Temperature and seed germination. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology 42:109-132.
- Rotundo, J.L., M.R. Aguiar and R. Benech-Arnold. 2015. Understanding erratic seedling emergence in perennial grasses using physiological models and field experimentation. Plant Ecology 216:143-156.
- Rowe, E.C., J.C. Williamson, D.L. Jones, P. Holliman and J.R. Healey. 2005. Initial tree

establishment on blocky quarry waste ameliorated with hydrogel or slate processing fines. Journal of Environmental Quality 34:994-1003.

- Sarvaš, M., P. Pavlenda and E. Takáčová. 2007. Effect of hydrogel application on survival and growth of pine seedlings in reclamations. Journal of Forest Science 53:204-209.
- Smith, M.W. 2014. Roughness in the earth sciences. Earth Science Reviews 136:202-225.
- Smoliak, S., J.F. Dormaar and A. Johnston. 1972. Long-term grazing effects on Stipa-Bouteloua prairie soils. Journal of Range Management 25:246-250.
- Stevens, M.H.H. 2006. Placing local plant species richness in the context of environmental drivers of metacommunity richness. Journal of Ecology 94:58-65.
- Sterling, A, B. Pero, M.A. Casado, E.F. Galiano and F.D. Pineda. 1984. Influence of microtopography on floristic variation in the ecological succession of grasslands. Oikos 42:334-342.
- Stover, H.J. 2013. Non-native plant management and restoration of foothills fescue grassland in Waterton Lakes National Park, Alberta. MSc thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 231 pp.
- Von Bostelen, C.J. 2003. Ungulate habitat restoration in Elk Island National Park. MSc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 111 pp.
- Walker, L.R. and R. del Moral. 2003. Primary succession and ecosystem rehabilitation. Cambridge University Press. New York, New York. 442 pp.
- Werner, K.J. and J.B. Zedler. 2002. How sedge meadow soils, microtopography, and vegetation respond to sedimentation. Wetlands 22:451-466.
- Williamson, J.C. E.C. Rowe, P.W. Hill, M.A. Nason, D.L. Jones and J.R. Healey. 2011. Alleviation of both water and nutrient limitations is necessary to accelerate ecological restoration of waste rock tips. Restoration Ecology 19:194-204.
- Willms, W.D., S.M. Mcinn and J.F. Dormaar. 1993. Influence of litter on herbage production in the mixed prairie. Journal of Range Management 46:320-324.
- Willms, W.D., S. Smoliak and A.W. Bailey. 1986. Herbage production following litter removal on Alberta native grasslands. Journal of Range Management 39:536-540.
- Young, J.E., G.A. Sanchez-Azofeifa, S.J. Hannon and R. Chapman. 2006. Trends in land cover change and isolation of protected areas at the interface of the southern boreal mixedwood and aspen parkland in Alberta, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 230:151-161.

Appendix Figure. Soil sensor installation schematic.

